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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
| would like present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the annual report of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting Period”
or “YR2019").

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a
decrease in revenue of approximately HK$23,332,000 or
approximately 10.3% to approximately HK$202,894,000
compared with the year ended 31 March 2018 (the
“YR2018"). The decline in revenue was due to the
decrease in revenue of foundation construction services
during the Reporting Period.

Despite the fact that there has been an increase in public
works funding as approved by the Legislative Councils
since last year, competition among the foundation work
industry was still intense. In addition, various costs of
construction have been increased due to labour shortage
and increasingly stringent regulatory controls, in particular
the labour cost, cost of construction materials and
operating costs, which affected the growth and profitability
of the Group. As such, the Group recorded a net loss for
the Reporting Period.

Looking ahead, the sustainability of foundation industry has
been benefited from (i) the Lantau Tomorrow Vision project
, (i) Ten Major Infrastructure Projects launched in 2007, and
(ili) Sustained housing demand.
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In view of the slow down in the growth of the overall
foundation industry in Hong Kong, the Company intends
to seek opportunities in the investment sector as well as
its money lending business in the coming years so as
to broaden the income stream of the Group. In order to
maintain a stable and sustainable development of the
Group’s existing businesses as well as diversifying and
expanding the Group’s businesses at the same time, the
Group will leverage on its industrial experience and the
advantage of its existing resources and talented team
to seek cooperation and investment opportunities with
high-quality companies in the emerging industries in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

On 2 October 2018, the Company, the vendors and the
warrantors entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire approximately 51.315% of issued share capital
of the target group which is principally engaged in the
business of operation of e-sports events, production of
videos of e-sports events broadcast online, and filming and
production of dramas broadcast online in the PRC. The
acquisition is still in progress and pending for approval from
the relevant authorities.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders and
business partners for their continued support, and to our
management and staff members for their commitment and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
Fong Hon Hung
Chairrman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE o

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in providing: (i) foundation
construction; (i) ground investigation services; and (iii)
financial services in Hong Kong.

Foundation Construction

During the Reporting Period, the foundation construction
undertaken by the Group mainly consisted of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group undertook foundation
construction projects in both the public and private
sectors. Revenue from the foundation works contributed
approximately 82.0% to the total revenue of the Group
during the Reporting Period (YR2018: approximately
84.4%).

Ground Investigation Services

The Group also acted as a contractor to provide ground
investigation services in both public and private sectors in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
ground investigation services contributed approximately
17.6% to the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period (YR2018: approximately 15.6%).

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, the money lending business
has commenced. Revenue from the financial services
contributed approximately 0.4% to the total revenue of the
Group during the Reporting Period (YR2018: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately HK$23,332,000,
or approximately 10.3%, from approximately
HK$226,226,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$202,894,000 for the Reporting Period,
which was primarily due to:

Foundation Construction

The revenue from undertaking foundation construction
projects decreased by approximately HK$24,479,000,
or approximately 12.8%, from approximately
HK$190,938,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$166,459,000 for the Reporting Period.
This was primarily due to the decrease of the number
of sizable projects tendered by the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Ground Investigation Services

The revenue from ground investigation services slightly
increased by approximately HK$394,000, or approximately
1.1%, from approximately HK$35,288,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$35,682,000
for the Reporting Period. This was primarily due to the
increase in the number of sizable projects tendered by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, the money lending business
has commenced. The revenue for financial services
amounted to approximately HK$753,000 for the Reporting
Period (YR2018: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE o

Direct Costs

The Group’s direct costs amounted to approximately
HK$209,516,000 for the Reporting Period, representing
a decrease of approximately 17.5% from approximately
HK$253,873,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Foundation Construction

The direct costs for the foundation construction mainly
consisted of construction material costs, subcontracting
fees and wages of workers. The direct costs decreased by
approximately 18.9%, from approximately HK$226,376,000
for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
HK$183,487,000 for the Reporting Period. This was
mainly due to (i) the decrease in revenue of the foundation
construction, and (ii) the reduction in depreciation of
machinery as most machines were fully depreciated last
year (YR2019: approximately HK$6,113,000; YR2018:
approximately HK$13,620,000).

Ground Investigation Services

The direct costs for the ground investigation services
mainly included the subcontracting fees and the wages of
workers. The decrease in direct costs by approximately
6.1%, from approximately HK$27,498,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$25,829,000
for the Reporting Period, was primarily due to the higher
gross profit margin projects tendered by the Group during
the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Services

The direct costs for the financial services mainly consisted
of commission fees and search fees. The direct costs
amounted to approximately HK$200,000 for the Reporting
Period (YR2018: nil).

Gross (Loss)/Profit and Gross (Loss)/Profit Margin

The gross loss decreased from approximately
HK$27,648,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$6,622,000 for the Reporting Period.
The Group’s overall gross loss margin during the Reporting
Period was approximately 3.3% (YR2018: gross loss
margin amounted to approximately 12.2%).

Gross loss of the Group’s foundation construction segment
was approximately HK$17,028,000 for the Reporting
Period, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$18,410,000 from approximately HK$35,438,000 gross
loss as compared to that for the year ended 31 March
2018. Gross loss margin of the foundation construction
segment amounted to approximately 10.2% (YR2018:
gross loss margin of approximately 18.6%). The decline
in gross loss margin was mainly due to (i) the reduction
in depreciation of machinery as most machines were fully
depreciated last year, (i) the impact on initial application of
HKFRS 15, and (jii) the improvement of the bidding prices
on the new tenders.

Gross profit of the Group’s ground investigation services
segment was approximately HK$9,853,000 for the
Reporting Period, representing an increase of 26.5% from
approximately HK$7,791,000 as compared to that for the
year ended 31 March 2018. Gross profit margin of the
ground investigation services segment increased from
approximately 22.1% for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately 27.6% for the Reporting Period. The
increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to higher
gross profit margin projects tendered by the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Gross profit of the Group’s financial service was
approximately HK$553,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2018: nil). Gross profit margin of the financial service
amounted to approximately 73.4% (YR2018: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBWR D

Other Revenue

The other revenue of the Group decreased by
approximately HK$2,427,000, or approximately 38.6%,
from approximately HK$6,295,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$3,868,000 for
the Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to
the absence of rental income from lease of machinery
during the Reporting Period (YR2018: approximately
HK$2,682,000).

Other Net Income

The other net income of the Group decreased by
approximately HK$2,353,000, from approximately
HK$4,107,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$1,754,000 for the Reporting Period.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of gain
on disposal of property, plant and equipment (YR2019:
gain of approximately HK$1,181,000; YR2018: gain of
approximately HK$3,013,000).

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses for the
Reporting Period were approximately HK$51,022,000
(YR2018: approximately HK$45,958,000), representing an
increase of approximately 11.0% as compared to that for
the year ended 31 March 2018. The increase was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in the general operating
expenses (mainly included salaries and other administrative
expenses) for the financial services segment; and (i)
professional fees for the potential acquisition (YR2019:
approximately HK$2,386,000: YR2018: nil) during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

The finance costs decreased by approximately
HK$2,164,000, from approximately HK$7,132,000
for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
HK$4,968,000 for the Reporting Period. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in the interest rate for
borrowing from a related company, Bright Dynasty Trading
Limited and borrowing from a former director since 1 July
2018. The interest rates were reduced from 5% to 2.5%
per annum from 1 July 2018 to 31 March 2019.

Income Tax

The tax credit for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$1,760,000 (YR2018: tax credit of approximately
HK$89,000). The change was mainly due to the change of
deferred tax for the Reporting Period.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

During the Reporting Period, the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss represents the subscription
of the private fund and the purchase of the listed equity
securities. These financial assets are measured at fair value
and were subscribed and purchased by a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
net fair value loss of financial assets was recognised in
the statement of profit or loss amounted to approximately
HK$551,000 (YR2018: nil).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$55,229,000, as compared with the net
loss of approximately HK$70,247,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease in overall gross loss margin as previously
discussed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE o

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the Shareholders for the Reporting Period
(YR2018: nil).

PROSPECTS

The Directors estimate that the growth of the overall
foundation industry in Hong Kong will continue to slow
down in the coming years. The Directors are of the view
that the approval process of government projects from
the Legislative Council is expected to be slow, which will
lead to a decrease in the number of available Government
project tenders in the coming years. In addition, the intense
competition has continued to impact the foundation
industry in Hong Kong, which will in turn affect the
growth and profitability of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Directors are confident that with the Group’s reputation
in the foundation industry and experienced management
team, the Group is in a well position to compete with its
competitors.

In view of the slow down in the growth of the overall
foundation industry in Hong Kong, the Company intends
to seek opportunities in the investment sector as well as
its money lending business in the coming years so as
to broaden the income stream of the Group. In order to
maintain a stable and sustainable development of the
Group’s existing businesses as well as diversifying and
expanding the Group’s businesses at the same time, the
Group will leverage on its industrial experience and the
advantage of its existing resources and talented team to
seek cooperation and investment opportunities with high-
quality companies in the emerging industries in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group mainly
consisted of finance leases, borrowing from a former
director and borrowing from a related company. The above
borrowings were incurred during the Reporting Period
(YR2019: approximately HK$198,287,000; YR2018:
approximately HK$160,740,000). All borrowings were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Except for finance
leases, interest on other borrowings were charged at
fixed rates. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy and the Group monitors interest risks
continuously and considers hedging any excessive risk
when necessary. The finance leases of the Group were
secured by the Group’s machinery with an aggregate net
book value of approximately HK$8,267,000 (YR2018:
approximately HK$11,467,000).

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$251,988,000, which was
approximately HK$49,173,000 lower than net current
assets of approximately HK$301,161,000 as at 31 March
2018. As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$233,508,000, representing
an increase of approximately HK$22,916,000 from
approximately HK$210,592,000 as at 31 March 2018. The
increase was mainly due to (i) the borrowing from a former
director during the Reporting Period, with the principal
amount of HK$38,300,000, and (i) the interests incurred
by the borrowings from a related company and a former
director during the Reporting Period, with the amount of
approximately HK$4,653,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$337,512,000, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$77,625,000 (as at 31
March 2018: approximately HK$415,137,000), all of which
were denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

CASH FLOW

The net cash used by the Group in its operating
activities amounted to approximately HK$118,256,000
during the Reporting Period, which was mainly used for
the foundation construction and ground investigation
services. Net cash generated from investing activities
was approximately HK$8,052,000, and the net cash
generated from financing activities was approximately
HK$32,579,000, in which HK$38,300,000 arose from
borrowing from a former director during the Reporting
Period, net off the repayment of finance leases (YR2019:
approximately HK$5,721,000).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2019
(defined as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 73.9% (as at 31
March 2018: approximately 49.5%).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained
a healthy position of liquidity throughout the Reporting
Period. The Group strives to reduce the exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most
of the revenue and transactions arising from its operations
were settled in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, the Directors believe that the Group’s risk in
foreign exchange is insignificant and the Group will have
sufficient foreign exchange to meet its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and it has not
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging
instruments during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s issued share capital
was HK$9,600,000 (as at 31 March 2018: HK$9,600,000)
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
960,000,000 (as at 31 March 2018: 960,000,000) of
HK$0.01 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

On 2 October 2018, the Company, the vendors and the
warrantors entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire approximately 51.315% of issued share capital
of the target group which is principally engaged in the
business of operation of e-sports events, production of
videos of e-sports events broadcast online, and filming
and production of dramas broadcast online in the PRC.
The transaction is subject to the approval from The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and the Shareholders’ approval at the general meeting
of the Company. For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 2 October 2018,
29 October 2018, 23 November 2018, 25 February 2019,
3 April 2019 and 24 May 2019.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies made by the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMMITMENTS

The contractual commitments of the Group were primarily
related to the leases of its office premises and warehouses.
The Group’s operating leases commitments amounted to
approximately HK$6,037,000 as at 31 March 2019 (as at
31 March 2018: approximately HK$11,535,000). As at 31
March 2019, the Group’s capital commitments amounted
to HK$215,000 (as at 31 March 2018: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2019 and 2018.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no other significant event after the Reporting
Period up to the date of this report.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material pending
litigation.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 128 full-
time employees (as at 31 March 2018: 123 full-time
employees).

The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund and in-house training programmes, salary
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. The total remuneration cost incurred by
the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$63,242,000 as compared to approximately
HK$70,677,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRD

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as
follows:

0)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

The Group has a concentrated clientele base. Any
loss for major customers or decrease in the number
of projects with the top 5 customers of the Group
may adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results.

The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not
be an indicative of the Group’s future revenue and
profit margin. In particular, the Group’s revenue is on
project basis, which is non-recurrent in nature, and
the Group may achieve lower-than expected revenue
if it fails to maintain continuity of the Group’s order
book for its new projects.

The Group is dependent on its Board members
and senior management staff, the departure of its
staff may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations.

Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs
of the Group’s projects may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.

Any delay or default of progress payments or
retention monies by the customers may affect the
Group’s cash flow and may have adverse impact on
the Group’s financial results.

Failure to renew the Group’s current registrations and
licenses may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations. For other risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risks
Factors” in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
July 2015 (the “Prospectus”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group’s success also depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers
and suppliers.

Customers

For foundation construction, the principal customers
are generally from the main contractors of construction
projects in Hong Kong. For ground investigation services,
the principal customers are generally from the employers of
construction projects in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors considered that the Group did not rely
on any single customer. The Group also maintains a long-
term relationship with its customers, some of which have
established more than 10 years of working relationship with
the Group.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Reporting Period, the suppliers of goods
and services which were specific to the business of the
Group and were acquired on a regular basis to enable
the Group to continue to carry its business included (i)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site
works; (i) materials and equipment suppliers to supply
materials and equipments used in the site works; and (i)
suppliers of miscellaneous goods and services required
for the Group’s business operations. The Group maintains
multiple suppliers and subcontractors to avoid the over-
reliance on a few suppliers and subcontractors; and did
not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers and assigning subcontractors during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not have any significant
disputes with any of its suppliers and subcontractors
during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE o

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with the applicable labour laws and regulations
and regularly reviewed the benefits of existing staff for
improvement. The Group intends to use its best effort
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel
to serve the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing an attractive remuneration
package.

The Group determines the salary of its employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualification, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts
annual review on salary increment, bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The Group considers that the Group has maintained
a good relationship with its employees. The Group
has not experienced any strikes, work stoppages or
labour disputes which affected its operations during the
Reporting Period. The Directors also acknowledge that the
management team and the employees have maintained
a good relationship and co-operated well during the
Reporting Period.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group places an emphasis on environmental
protection when undertaking its projects. The Group was
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 (environmental management
system). The current ISO 14001:2015 certificate is valid
from 7 April 2018 to 29 April 2021. When preparing the
tender documents, the Group will take into consideration
the environmental protection requirements of potential
customers as well as the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environmental protection. The Group’s safety
officers are responsible for ensuring that the Group satisfies
the applicable laws and regulations requirements and
identifying and reporting on environmental issues to our
project management team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operation are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company
itself is a holding company. Our operations accordingly
shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report, there is no material non-compliance with
the relevant prevailing laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets up to the date of this annual
report.

ISSUE OF SHARES FROM THE PLACING

On 29 November 2016, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with Kingston Securities Limited (the
“Placing Agent”), whereby the Company conditionally
agreed to place, through the Placing Agent, on a best effort
basis, a maximum of 160,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.01 each (the “Placing Shares”)
to not less than six placees which are independent third
parties at a price of HK$0.86 per Placing Share (net placing
price of HK$0.84 per placing share) (the “Placing”). The
Placing was completed on 16 December 2016. The
gross proceeds of HK$137,600,000 were received by
the Company in accordance with the terms of the placing
agreement. The net proceeds from the Placing, after
deducting the Placing Agent’s commission and other
related expenses payable by the Company, amounted
to approximately HK$134,000,000. The net proceeds
from the Placing are intended to be used for developing a
business regarding investment and financing services and
for setting up a subsidiary with money lender’s license.
As at 31 March 2019, we used the net proceeds from
the Placing of approximately HK$46,569,000 (YR2018:
HK$14,757,000) on the Group for the operation of money
lending business, the payment of related staff costs,
engaging a consultant for the application for securities
licenses, administration costs and office set up cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Due to the increasing level of instability pertaining to the
financial markets and competition in the financial services
sector and the benefits of the proposed entry to the
e-sports markets, the Board considers that the reallocation
of the use of proceeds from the Placing, may bring better
prospects to the Company and its Shareholders in the
current situation. The Company therefore intends to
change the use of up to approximately HK$76,700,000
of such outstanding proceeds, and utilise the amount to
fund the acquisition instead. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 2 October
2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange during the Reporting Period, except for the
deviation from the code provision A.2.1. For further details,
please refer to the corporate governance report on pages
28 to 57 of this annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Hon Hung (757&8) , aged 61, is also the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and chief
executive officer of our Group (the “Chief Executive
Officer”). Mr. Fong has engaged in the foundation industry
for more than 40 years and he is primarily responsible for
the formulation of corporate strategic plans, the execution
of daily management and administration of business and
the operations of our Group. He is also the authorised
signatory of Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Company
Limited (“Wan Kei Engineering”) under the register of
specialist contractors (sub-register of foundation works
category) maintained by the Buildings Department.

Mr. Fong has awarded a technician certificate in
engineering surveying in November 1980, a certificate in
civil engineering in November 1983, a higher certificate in
civil engineering in November 1987 and the endorsement
certificate in civil engineering project management in
November 1998, which were all awarded by the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic). He also obtained the certificate in
electronics with distinction from the Vocational Training
Council and the BTEC National Certificate in engineering
from Business & Technology Education Council in July
1993.

Mr. Fong has been the director of Wan Kei Engineering
since July 1995. Prior to joining Wan Kei Engineering,
he worked as the chairman and junior land surveyor in
construction project at Mass Transit Railway Corporation
Hong Kong from August 1978 to July 1984. He also
worked as an assistant site agent at Chung Wah Machine
Well Engineering Company Limited from 1984 to 1986,
and as an assistant engineer of Shimizu Construction Co.,
Ltd. from November 1986 to November 1987 and as the
project manager at Chung Wah Machine Well Engineering
Company Limited from November 1987 to April 1995 and
his last position was general manager. He is the director
of Wan Kei Engineering and Wan Kei Machinery Company
Limited (“‘Wan Kei Machinery”).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRARIWENBEFS

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (3R #K %), aged 38, has over
14 years’ experience in financial, risk and investment
management. He now acts as an independent non-
executive director, a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 643) and independent non-executive director of
Jiangsu Protruly Vision Technology Group Company
Limited COI#%RTERGHMXEERNHBER LA (@
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
code: 600074) since July 2018. From August 2012 to
December 2016, he was the chief financial officer of
EACHWAY Fashion Group (Shenzhen) Limited* ( £~ B
e CFYI) BRRAF]) . Prior to that, he served as the
finance in charge and project in charge of an automobile
group in the PRC and a consulting firm listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang obtained a master degree of
business management* ( T & 28 + 247 ) from the
University of Science and Technology Beijing in 2011. He
also holds qualifications as a certified public accountant,
senior international finance manager and senior accountant
in the PRC. Mr. Zhang is a fellow member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and holds the
certificate of Chartered Global Management Accountant
and certificate of independent director of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang has joined the Company since
5 January 2018.

Mr. Chan Kwan (FR &), aged 31, obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Biomedical Science from University
of Essex in June 2012 and bachelor’s degree of laws from
University of Leicester in July 2015. He is also a diamond
graduate of Gemological Institute of America (B E
FEPT) . Mr. Chan has extensive experience in both
assets management and commercial acquisition. He has
been a non-executive director of CAQ Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Australia Stock Exchange with
Listing Corporation Code of CAQ since November 2017.
Mr. Chan also served as a legal and project director of
China Cambodia International Special Economic Zone Co.
Limited from October 2015 to February 2018. Mr. Chan
has joined the Company since 13 March 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yan Shuai ( B&HAP) , aged 31, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in financial management from Shanghai University
of International Business and Economics ( /&% 4MEE
E) in 2009, bachelor's degree of business administration
(majoring in financial services and administration) (long
distance learning course) from Douglas College in 2009
and Master Degree in Science (majoring in Economics
and Finance) from University of Durham in the United
Kingdom in 2011. Mr. Yan also obtained a fund practice
certificate* (P R B HF I EE S EHNXFEE) issued by
Asset Management Association of China ( fF BIGE53% & &
L1 ) in February 2018. Mr. Yan has over 7 years of
experience in the finance field. Mr. Yan has been a director
of Links Network & Technology Co., Limited ( /&% /x
WERHE M AR AR, a company listed on National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (Stock code: 835718)
since May 2017. He has also been a senior investment
manager of Shenzhen Capital Group Co. Limited (&3
MAI#7#% & £ @) and Shanghai Chuangxin Investment
Management Company Limited* ( /& AI¥i& & E R AR
2 A]) since 2011, responsible for fund-raising and project
financing. Mr. Yan has joined the Company since 13 March
2018.
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B4t 31 RN-_ZTHAEFEH LEHIE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRARIWENBEFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (E#ZX), aged 48, has over
25 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
finance. Mr. Lo received a bachelor’s degree of business
administration from the University of Hong Kong in 1993
and a master’s degree of professional accounting from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a certified
public accountant, a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow member
of CPA Australia and fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Lo is a practising
accountant in Hong Kong, and has become the managing
partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited since 2014. Mr.
Lo has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of each of the Hong Kong listed companies below,
namely, Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 125) since May 1999, China Zhongwang Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1333) since February 2009, Sheen
Tai Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code: 1335)
since June 2012, China Oceanwide Holdings Limited
(stock code: 715) since November 2014, Xinming China
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699) since June 2015,
China Tonghai International Financial Limited (stock code:
952) since February 2017 and G-Resources Group Limited
(stock code: 1051) since July 2017. Mr. Lo is also the
member of the Shanghai Pudong New Area Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
the founding executive vice-president and council member
of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association and the Divisional President 2019 - Greater
China of CPA Australia. Mr. Lo has joined the Company
since 8 March 2017.

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (R %), aged 43, has
over 10 years of work experience in legal area. He has
worked for various professional companies and specialised
in intellectual property, cross border legal business and
general company legal affairs. Mr. Leung currently serves
as an assistant director in a department of a legal related
service company. Mr. Leung graduated from China
University of Political Science and Law in 2002 with a
bachelor degree of law, majoring in economics law* (/&£
B+ (KBEEHEE) ). Mr. Leung has joined the Company
since 5 July 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Qin Fen (Z%), aged 30, has approximately 6
years of experiences in the corporate finance industry.
Since July 2012, he has been acting as the director and
chief executive officer of Shanghai Fen Rong Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (E/BEREEERBEBRA
Al), which is principally engaged in the investment
management and consultancy services over the financing
projects in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Qin has
attended the financial investment and capital operation
entrepreneurship programme* (& g% & 8 & AN EE b
¥ X2 ) organised by the Overseas Education College
of Shanghai Jiao Tong University ( _E/8 %38 KX E) since
October 2018. Mr. Qin has joined the company since 19
December 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Jan Wing Fu, Barry (#°k &) (appointed on 9 April
2019), aged 52, joined the Company in April 2019. He
serves as the financial controller, the company secretary
and an authorized representative of the Company for
accepting service of process and notice in Hong Kong
on its behalf under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since 9 April
2019. He was a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants till December 2015 and has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 1993. He obtained a bachelor degree
in business administration from the University of New
Brunswick, Canada in December 1989. Mr. Jan has over
28 years of solid experience in auditing, accounting,
general management and financial control.

Ms. Wong Kit Ying (E2%) (resigned on 9 April 2019),
joined the Company in January 2017. She serves as the
finance manager of our group. Ms. Wong was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company on 5 January
2018 and has resigned on 9 April 2019. Ms. Wong
has over 8 years of extensive experience in the field of
accounting, auditing and financial management. She holds
a bachelor of accounting degree in the Edinburgh Napier
University and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. Wong worked in Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company
Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1335) as a finance manager and
several accounting firms.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERHRE

The Board of Directors of Wan Kei Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries is committed to achieving
and maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the
Group to formulate the business strategies and policies,
and manage the associated risk through effective internal
control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency
of the Group and strengthen the accountability to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company had fully complied with the
Code during the Reporting Period.

The Group commits to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices by periodic review to
ensure that the Group continues to meet the requirements
of the Code.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises
four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Woon Si
(resigned as Chairman and
executive Director on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chairman on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony (resigned on 31 July 2018)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Chan Kwan
Mr. Yan Shuai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (resigned on 9 July 2018)
Ms. Wang Qing (resigned on 19 December 2018)

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson
Mr. Qin Fen (appointed on 19 December 2018)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period. There
are currently three independent non-executive Directors
in the Board and the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of
the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent
element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has also complied
with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which stipulates
that one of the independent non-executive Directors
must possess appropriate professional qualification or
accounting or related financial management expertise. In
compliance with the Code, the independent non-executive
Directors expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclosed the name of the Directors.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely,
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Qin
Fen has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a fixed term unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice (except Mr. Qin Fen with one month’s
notice) in writing served by either party on the other.
The independent non-executive Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”) in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once
every three years. The Directors to be retired in every year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their last
election or re-election. Mr. Fong Hon Hung, Mr. Lo Wa Kei
Roy and Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson will retire from office as
Directors at the forthcoming AGM pursuant to Article 108
of the Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

New Directors appointed by the Board during the year
shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at the
AGM immediately following their appointments. Mr. Qin
Fen will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company, being eligible, offer himself for
re-election pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles. No
Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERHRE

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of its
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Group considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board. The biographical details
of each of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular
meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular
circumstances. During the Reporting Period, 16 board
meetings were held. The Directors’ attendance of the
Board meetings and general meeting are set out as
follows:

ARBDWRBBEBIIFATEERE LHARL
EIIBRERNFEBILUEBRRE - AEER
RERBBYFATESTORBYL A LTH
AR RE -

BRABREMBEEIN EFTSRBE 2RI EE
X% RBIEMER HEBER -ZES
LEEFREINAFEFRIESTRARAMENE

BBl —&-

EZERREKRE

ExecaResm MKOIEIN TEER
KENBERAFSH RRSHE X877
1IBREFEER "EFHFEFT TR LR
REHREMT

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
REBEHE R & H A
BRRXEH EEggan
HERE HERE
=E P8 SRRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lau Woon Si (resigned as Chairman and 254 (ER-Z—N\4F
executive Director on 7 September 2018) NAtBEBEEEER
WITESE) 1/ 77
Mr. Fong Hon Hung FERSE
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFTEAEZ)
(appointed as Chairman (RZE2—N\FhLAtH
on 7 September 2018) EZEAERE) 1/1 9/16
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony BRFEFEE (ERZZE—NF
(resigned on 31 July 2018) +tA=+—H#&T) 1/1 7/7
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRFE LA 1/1 16/16
Mr. Chan Kwan PRE 4 1/1 15/16
Mr. Yan Shuai BRAD 55 & 1/1 16/16
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
R EHE R & HE
BRRXEH E=ggaEn
HERE HERE
BRARE 2RRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EEELLE 1/1 16/16
Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy THEZLT (BER=ZE—N\F
(resigned on 9 July 2018) tANA ﬁ;fi) N/A “1~3E A 3/3
Ms. Wang Qing FRERLE(ERZZ—NEF
(resigned on 19 December 2018) +=A+hB @;E) 1/1 11/12
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson U e 1/1 16/16
Mr. Qin Fen (appointed on 19 December 2018) =& 4 (A —Z— )\ F
JrJ%ﬂmElé%ﬂE) N/A 7~ i FA 1/4
BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND ESEREREINER

DELEGATION

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership
and control of the Group and be collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving
the annual development plan and budget; monitoring
financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
system and supervising and managing the management’s
performance.

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, during the
Reporting Period, the Board has performed the following
duties in accordance with the terms of reference:

° determined and reviewed the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

EFeRXRBREAELERATE BFERE
BEXAKENER SRAEREAKENMNX
e BEFZERIRNHIFTAKE A BERE  FH
FERRAILBE ERMBEREERE:
mEAMEERRARERESENARE AR
EENEREEEEMNRAE -

i

S

il

RARBERERME NKEHHE 3
RIEBELECETUATRE

EEMRAASENCEREARREE
B IEHERER

. R REREERSNEERBABNE

IEFHEERERR:
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° reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of
conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to
the management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the
Group by the management. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committee”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. Since
7 September 2018 and up to the date of this report, Mr.
Fong Hon Hung serves as both the Chairman and chief
executive officer (‘CEQ”) of the Company. However, after
evaluation of the current situation of the Group and taking
into account of the experience and past performance of
Mr. Fong, the Board believes that it is appropriate and
in the best interest of the Company at the present stage
for vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO of
the Company in the same person as it helps to facilitate
the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
maximizes the effectiveness of its operation. In addition,
there are various experienced individuals in charge of the
daily business and the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors
with the balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the Group’s further development. The Board will
nevertheless review this structure from time to time and will
consider the segregation of the two roles at the appropriate
time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding directors’ transactions
of the listed securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors,
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and its code of conduct during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
code provision A.6.5 of the Code during the Reporting
Period that all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an in-
house training on the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar
during the Reporting Period conducted by the legal advisor
as to Hong Kong laws and relevant training materials were
distributed to all the Directors. All Directors attended the
in-house training. The training covered topics including
the Code, listed company regulations and disclosure
obligations in Hong Kong, disclosable transactions and
connected transactions, etc.
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TEERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the (i) audit committee (the
“‘Audit Committee”), (i) remuneration committee (the
‘Remuneration Committee”), and (i) the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with defined
terms of reference. The terms of reference of each of
the Board Committees, which explain their respective
roles and authority delegated to them by the Board, are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. In addition to the abovementioned committees,
a legal compliance committee (the “Legal Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 9 May
2015. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and upon reasonable
requests, are able to seek independent professional advice
and other assistance under appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 9
May 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of
the Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lo Wa
Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Qin Fen, with Mr.
Lo Wa Kei Roy being the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. During
the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management on the Group’s unaudited interim
results, audited annual results, the consolidated financial
statements and this report.
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During the Reporting Period, 3 meetings were held by the
Audit Committee. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out below:

TEERWE

REeEHE BERZE88ERT3REH BX
ZEEEKRENHFECEHEINWNT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Name of committee members Period

RIEH—[H

HERE,

ZESHNEH®A BITERRHE

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BEELE (F/E) 3/3

Ms. Wang Qing (resigned on 19 December 2018) TR+ (E’\:%*J\$+ — A+ BEHE) 2/2

Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (resigned on 9 July 2018) ZmRfExw+ (A —F— /\F+ A L HEHT) 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REBEEE (E/\\_;Q NFELtANBEZRT)

(appointed on 9 July 2018) 2/2

Mr. Qin Fen (appointed on 19 December 2018) &= E fc 4
(R—E—N\F+-_A+NLBEZT) 0/1
There had been no disagreement between the Board and RBEHE EFSeRHERLZEgULEER D

the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, members of the Audit
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The audit committee should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;
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(©) to develop and implement policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The audit committee should report to the board,
identifying and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

(o)} to monitor integrity of the issuer’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the board, the
committee should focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

(V) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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(e) Regarding (d) above:—

(i) members of the committee should liaise with
the board and senior management and the
committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the issuer’s auditors; and

(ii) the committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and
accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
issuer’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors;

Oversight of the issuer’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

(M) to review the issuer’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk
committee, or by the board itself, to review the
issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems;

(9 to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h) to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

0) where an internal audit function exists, to
ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the issuer, and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;
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(o)

to review the group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external
auditor’s management letter;

to report to the board on the matters in this code
provision;

to consider other topics, as defined by the board;

to review arrangements employees of the issuer can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the issuer’s relations with the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee on 9 May 2015. As at the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yan Shuai and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr.
Leung Ka Fai Nelson. Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Board from time to time. The Board as a whole has
determined the remuneration policy and packages of the
Directors. No individual Director was allowed to be involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of senior
management is listed as below by band:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

TEERWE

%A%%m M E@%EH%%?%?W
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BB M BEREK -
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No. of person

FrieE (Bx) AB
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LA T~ 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7T 2 1,500,0007% 7T =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000 7T 6

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
5 highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules have been set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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TEERHRE

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 4 meetings and all the members (except the newly
appointed members) have attended to review the Group’s
remuneration policy and approved the terms of executive
Directors’ service contracts. The committee members’
attendance of the Remuneration Committee is set out as
follow:

RBEHE FHEZESRTTI4REH UFE
BASEHFMBER LI ERTEERBESON
G- 2BKE (FTREZEKERIINBGEL
F-¥MEZEERBLFZESERNBRHE
ZIan T

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period
RIEHREB
HERE,
BITERRE
Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (Chairman) gLt (FE)
(resigned on 9 July 2018) (RZZE—N\FLANLB&T) 2/2
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (Chairman) REBEE (XE)
(appointed on 9 July 2018) (RZE—N\FEtANBEZT) 2/2
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony BRFEAE A
(resigned on 31 July 2018) (RZE—N\FtLtA=1+—HET) 2/2
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EERELE 4/4
Mr. Yan Shuai (appointed on 31 July 2018) BR B 5T A&
(RZE-N\FLA=+—RHEZE) 2/2

During the Reporting Period, members of the
Remuneration Committee had performed the following
duties under the terms of reference:

o assessed the performance of executive Directors
and consulted the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other executive Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration;

° reviewed and approved the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management;
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° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

o considered salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
and its subsidiaries;

° ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
and

° reviewed and approved compensation payable to

executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9
May 2015. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, namely Mr.
Yan Shuai, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson.
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, diversity and competition of the
Board, assess the independence non-executive Directors
and make recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of Directors.

TEERWE
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TEERHRE

Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy sets out the approach
and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-
election of directors. The selection criteria in assessing the
suitability of potential candidates includes, but not limited
to, their professionalism and personal ethics, reputation
for integrity, character and integrity, board experience,
expertise, time commitment, measurable objectives
set out in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it considers appropriate
for evaluating and shortlisting candidates, which may
include, personal interviews, background checks, written
submission by the candidates and third party references.
The selection process for each of their appointments shall
be evaluated using a substantially similar process and shall
be fair and transparent.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 5 meetings and all the members (except the newly
appointed members) had attended to review the Group’s
nomination policy. The committee members’ attendance of
the Nomination Committee is set out as follow:

REEE

EERABRIINEZSIRA MHREESHR
ZWE”JE%&&F“ BRZEFRES BREFR

BEFZ-FEBAEAZESENTELRIBEE
Tﬁﬁﬁéﬁ—rﬁﬁﬁﬁhg&ﬂl/\;_% HEZE  m
RER EFZELR ER - RAKE EF85T
EBRABAFER R - RERZBRAEREME
RABAENRRFAEREBEEREA P2 E
AHB BERFE REARE=SHEBEANEE
N RERARENTERF I EBABUHERE
R YRR REBRHE-

RS 12 % B GRITTOREH  UBHA
SEHERABR TEKE GTEZTKERING
BHE- h%éﬁaﬁiétﬂfhiiégpiﬁ’ﬂ%/ﬁ?ﬂ
FIEA

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period
RIpEHREN
B
BEXE
Mr. Lau Woon Si (Chairmarn) %IJkﬁéi—iﬁEi (/)

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (RZE—N\FNLALAET) 4/4
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BERELE (FE)

(appointed as chairman on 7 September 2018) (R=ZZE—NFNLALtREZTEERE) 5/5
Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (resigned on 9 July 2018) ZffEz+ (R — N\FE+ AN BEIT) 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson ReBEE(RZE-\FLANBEZRE)

(appointed on 9 July 2018) 3/3
Mr. Yan Shuai (appointed on 7 September 2018) &R AE (R—_Z—NFNLA+BEERT) 11
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During the Reporting Period, members of the Nomination
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and made recommendations
on proposed changes (if any) to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the said policy;

° determined the policy for the nomination of
Directors;
° assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the
date of this corporate governance report. A summary of
this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed below.
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The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board’s diversity has been considered
from a number of measurable aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services, all of which the Company considers
to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regards for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee will from time to time review
the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its
effectiveness.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors,
amongst which three of them are under 32 years old.
Further, members of the Board have a variety of education
backgrounds, including holding bachelor and/or master
degrees in the science, law, financial management as well
as the business administration fields. Most of the members
also possess various finance-related experiences. The
composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills, professional experience and knowledge for an
effective leadership of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the objectives in Board Diversity
Policy during the Reporting Period.
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LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee currently comprises
three members, namely Mr. Yan Shuai, Mr. Chan Kwan
and Mr. Zhang Zhenyi. Mr. Yan Shuai is the chairman of the
Legal Compliance Committee.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Legal
Compliance Committee, the primary duties of the Legal
Compliance Committee are to assist in overseeing the
Company’s compliance with laws and regulations relevant
to the Company’s business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s regulatory compliance
procedures and system.

The committee members’ attendance of the Legal
Compliance Committee is set out as follow:
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Mr. Lau Woon Si (Chairman) Bliass R (/)
(resigned on 7 September 2018) (R=ZZE—-—N\FHLALBET) 1/1
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) BREN A (F/E)
(appointed on 7 September 2018) (R=ZZFE-—N\FNALBEZT) N/A 738
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony BRFEAE A
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Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRE L E 11
Mr. Chan Kwan (appointed on 31 July 2018) PR EE o &
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which
reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
of its operations and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as its external auditors for the year ended 31
March 2019. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor. There is no non-audit services provided by the
auditors. Details of the fees paid/payable to HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited during the Reporting Period are as
follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. However, risk-taking is an unavoidable
necessity and an accepted part of the Company’s
business while effective risk management is an integral
part to present competitive advantages and ensure the
Company achieves its strategic and business objectives.
The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Group’s
business and is a critical component in developing
strategic plans, preparing operational plans and budgets,
approving investment projects and managing project plans.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and management
based on the severity of impact on the Company and the
probability of risk occurring.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the
risks as follows:

° Risk elimination: management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.
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° Risk mitigation: management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood and/
or severity of impact to an acceptable level.

° Risk acceptance: management may decide that the
risk rating is acceptable for the Company meanwhile
and no action is thus required. However, the risk
would continue to be monitored to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Controls and Reviews

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the
relevant management directives are carried out and actions
that may be needed to address risks are taken. These may
include approvals, verifications, reviews, safeguarding of
assets and segregation of duties.

Control activities can be divided into operations, financial
reporting and compliance, although there may, on
occasion, be some overlaps between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Group include:

° analytical reviews: such as conducting reviews of
actual performance against prior periods;

° direct functional or activity management: review of
performance reports;

° physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories
and other assets are safeguarded and subject to
periodic checks; and

° segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties
among different people, with a view to strengthening
checks and minimizing the risk of errors and abuse.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

° conducts its affairs with high regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission;

° closely communicates and seeks advice from its
legal advisor in assessing the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact
the price of the Shares or their trading volume,
and to determine whether the relevant information
is considered inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant
to the SFO and the Listing Rules;

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct
a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

o ensures, through its own internal reporting process
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.
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Assessing the Effectiveness of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board, via the Audit Committee, is responsible for the
review and assessment of the major risks the Group faces
and the review, approval and monitoring of the Group’s
response to such risks annually.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management
process and reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by performing
the following procedures:

° Review with management annually those reports on
compliance with the risk management policy;

o Discuss with management annually on the Group’s
major risks and the steps management has taken
since then or should take to address and deal with
such risks; and

° Review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management practices.

Management is responsible for ensuring the Group’s
business operations are being conducted in line with our
risk management policy, taking into consideration changes
in external environment and the Group’s risk tolerance
level.

In addition to the Board’'s oversight, the Group has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to remediate material
internal control deficiencies (if any). Management, through
the engagement of the independent internal control and
risk advisory team, is responsible for the annual risk
reporting process. The independent internal control and
risk advisory team meets with members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss
remedial measures to address material internal control
deficiencies (if any), including any changes relevant to
a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings assigned and
migration plans documented. The risk assessment is
reviewed by management and presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review.
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The Group has in place effective processes and systems
for the identification, capture and reporting of operational,
financial and compliance-related information in a form
and timeframe intended to ensure that staff carry out their
designated responsibilities.

Risk Management and Internal Control Process

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews
annually the continuous effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems dealing with risk
and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and
regulations, and risk management functions.

The assessment considers:

° the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the risk management and
internal control systems;

° the extent and frequency with which the results
of monitoring are communicated, enabling the
Committee to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of control in the Group and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

° the incidence of any significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified at any time
during the period and the extent to which they have
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° the effectiveness of the Group’s processes in relation
to financial reporting and statutory and regulatory

compliance;

° areas of risk identified by management;
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° significant risks reported by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team;

o work programs proposed by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team and the external
auditors; and

° significant issues arising from internal and external
audit.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and have complied with the
Code Provisions on risk management and internal control
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an independent internal
control and risk advisory team, ZHONGHUI ANDA Risk
Services Limited, which has assisted in monitoring the
corporate governance of the Group and providing an
objective assessment to the Board on whether a sound
internal control system is maintained and operated by
management.

The internal control and risk advisory team conducted a
review on a number of corporate governance areas and
business cycles and provided recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the internal control
system. No significant control finding or weakness has
been identified by the internal control and risk advisory
team. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal control and risk advisory
team on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The
Company may consider declaring and paying dividends to
the Shareholders provided that the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In
determining the declaration of dividends and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;

° the liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
and

° any other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
are also subject to restrictions under the applicable laws
and the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

The Board would review the Company’s dividend policy
from time to time considering factors including but not
limited to capital investment and business plan.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) on
5 January 2018 and resigned on 9 April 2019.

Mr. Jan Wing Fu, Barry has been appointed as the
Company Secretary in place of Ms. Wong Kit Ying since 9
April 2019.

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Board. All
Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary
and the responsibility of the Company Secretary is to
ensure the Board meetings are properly held and are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices
with respect to the Directors’ obligations on securities
interest disclosure, disclosure requirements of disclosable
transactions, connected transactions and inside
information.

The Company Secretary, Ms. Wong Kit Ying, had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the
Shareholders could communicate directly and exchange
views concerning the affairs and overall performance of
the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the
Shareholders. The external auditors of the Company is also
invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of
the Shareholders concerning the audit procedures and the
auditors’ report.

The next AGM of the Company will be held within 2019,
the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right to vote
at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary by mail at Room 1802, 18th Floor,
Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures for
Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.
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Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person (other
than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Head Office or at the Registration Office no earlier than the
day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
for such election and no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by post to the principal place of business in Hong Kong
set out in the section headed “Corporation Information”
by fax at +852 3793 3530 or by email at info@1718hk.
com. The Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s
direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions
and inquiries, to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures
to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group
to the public through various channels, including general
meetings, public announcements and financial reports.
The investors are also able to access the latest news and
information of the Group via our website (www.hkex1718.
hk).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the
Company together with the Board extend their invitation
to all Shareholders and encourage them to attend the
forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and
suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Room 1802, 18th Floor,
Capital Centre,
No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@1718hk.com

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
could ensure an effective distribution of the resources
and Shareholders’ interests. The senior management
will continue endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and
increasing the Group’s corporate governance level and
quality.
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RS dERERBRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report was prepared for an overview of the
performance of the Group on environmental, social and
governance (“ESG Report”). This ESG Report has been
prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Main Board
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the
overall performances, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments of the Group in environmental, social, and
governance areas for the year ended 31 March 2019
(“YR2019").

During the YR2019, the Group is principally engaged in
providing foundation construction, ground investigation
services and financial services in Hong Kong. The
foundation construction is its major business, which
mainly consists of the construction of socketed H-piles,
mini piles, soldier piles, pipe piles and king posts. The
Group conducts foundation construction through Wan
Kei Geotechnical Engineering Company Limited and
ground investigation services through Chun Shun Boring
Engineering Company Limited. Therefore, the ESG Report
will mainly focus on the above businesses.

For the Group’s corporate governance practice
information, please refer to the corporate governance
report on pages 28 to 57 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
COMMUNICATION

The Group defines its stakeholders as people who affect
its business or who are affected by its business. Its
stakeholders include government and regulatory agency,
investors and shareholders, customers, employees,
suppliers and the general public. The Group actively
communicates with these stakeholders and presents its
updated operation condition to them proactively through
various channels. The Group integrates their opinions
with its daily operational decisions, strive to balance the
interests of the parties and satisfy the expectations and
demands of stakeholders.

RIR - dERERBE

K ESHEBE

AEERRFNENZEEZRBAIIERBER

EMALT -EFNEERBRNREERE K
BERBRR TP BI HEAARHLEAR-

AEBEBRBRZERNDERR BBTRERE
THRMBMERELERR  AHEMANER
BMABRLERRET BN FEHS T ER

R E R B EEFK -

Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels

B E EERBE BRERE

Government and e Comply with relevant laws and regulations e |aw-abiding operations
Regulatory Agencies e Proper tax payment e Tax payment on time and in full

TR & B E e o BREMEBZEEER o REKE

o ERHMTIA
Investors and Shareholders e Investment return

e Transparency of information
KEERRKRR o KEMK

s BEMEHE

.« RRERAH

® Better manage risk and generate
sustainable long-term returns

e Statutory reports and general
disclosures

o BltRAREEBRELAFKER
Hi[E ¥R

o EEWHEN—RKE

Customers e Durable and solid foundation e Regular meetings with
contractors/customers
e High-quality ground investigation services e Maintain good reputation in the

e Direct Communication
P o RHEREAME
B8 1 30 &) B IR 7%
ERER

foundation industry
e Customers’ feedback survey
o EHEAMEBPRIGH
o MIETERFRIEE
o XFRERAZ
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels
K& FERHE BERE
Employees e Remuneration and promotion prospect e Competitive remuneration
package and transparent
promotion channel
e Healthy and safe working environment e |mplement health and safety
management system
BT o HEBiKEHE o ABFNNFMEBLERNE
s RERZEZHNIIERE ARE
o EMBEEMNZEEERER
Suppliers e Stable cooperation relationship e Conduct assessment survey
e Respect to contractual commitment and e Fulflment of contractual
payment terms obligations in accordance with
laws and regulations
HER o BEAERE o HEITRIERAE

The General Public

[
IS
)
38

BEARABME R FIER
Ensure the daily life was not affected by engineering

Constructions cause no structural danger upon the
completion of works

Comply with relevant environmental laws related to
noise, air pollution and others
AREETTIRTE

TREIRTSEREEYERB LR
BRERE RERSAZHBERREM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group carried out materiality assessment on a
number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues
were crucial to the Group’s business and were of the
material concerns to stakeholders. The Group has
identified 22 ESG issues covering environmental, social
and operation. Management and employees of the Group
have participated in the preparation of the materiality
assessment and assessed the importance of these 22
ESG issues to businesses of the Group and stakeholders,
and make disclosure of relevant information.

RS dERERBRE

BEEMFM

AEE S EESGH BETE ST I
RIHAEEEB M BRRASHETH B
M- A EEE BR2EE MBS B R
SEMESCHE - ALENERERIERS R
RRE BT LT BRE22EACSCHREY
B R E A B B 4 AR B
RIS -

The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in YR2019: AEER-ZZE-NFENESGEEEZ B
&
ﬁgg 10
I
9 22 19
8 18
2
Ié] - 20 1221 8 11 17
2
ﬁ% 6 7 2 3 5 16
gg 1415
iisgg 5 4 1 6 13
£S5
%E . 910
g
5 3
]
£
1
0
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO BUSINESS HIGHEST
HEHEBNEEY BE
Environmental issues Social issues Operation issues
RIGREE HEmE EERE
Greenhouse gas emissions 9 Local community engagement 17 Economic value generated
mE R T OB R CEAENRBEER
Energy consumption Community investment Corporate governance
T 10. 38 & 18. LA
Water consumption 11 QcpupationaLhealth and safety 19 Anti-corruption
FA7K CBERERET S T RER
Waste Labour standards in supply chain Supply chain management
B 12 s s T 20 fipimE
Environmental impact of construction 13 Training and development 21 Customer satisfaction
ERONRETE CEIIRER CEPWMEE
Green buildings certification Employee welfare Customer privacy
Gemmgs 14 EE @A 2. ZERE
Customer engagement in Inclusion and equal opportunities
environmental issues 16. BRRFEHE
BPERERE S A2 HE
Use of chemicals 16, lalent attraction and retention
L2 fE H CRE| REBEAT
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RS dERERBRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is engaged in foundation construction and
ground investigation services, which may inevitably
produce exhaust gas, greenhouse gas, dust, sewage,
noises and other emissions. However, the Group has
implemented detailed internal codes, and made clear
guidelines on management of site environment, control on
emissions, and even management of office environment, in
an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily operation on
the environment.

As a recognition to the Group’s environment policies,
its environmental management system concerning the
design, supply and installation of the rock-socketed steel
H-pile in pre-bored hole and mini pile work, has been
identified to be in compliance with ISO 14001: 2015 after
the assessment since 2007. The Group has been granted
the OHSAS 18001:2007 Certification of Environment
Management System by Accredited Certification
International Limited, the Best Safety and Environment
Protection Subcontractor Award by customers and the On-
site Best Safety and Environmental Subcontractor Award
by customers, all of which prove the Group’s endeavour in
promoting environmentally responsible practices.

1. Emissions

Air Pollution — Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG Emission”) from
daily business activities mainly represent direct exhaust
emissions from construction machineries and transport
vehicles while carrying out projects, as well as electricity
and paper consumption in office and warehouse. The
Group has issued specific internal guidance for regulating
and monitoring the GHG Emissions and exhaust emissions
during the daily operation, including the construction
process and environment management on the site, turning
off all idle construction machineries and strictly enforcing
“Switch off Idling Vehicles”, as well as reminding staff to
turn off all electric appliances while leaving the working
place.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has complied with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance and other regulations promulgated by
governments and currently applicable to the Group, as
well as environmental requirements of contractor. All
machineries, including leased machineries, used on the site
shall obtain approval or exemption from the Environmental
Protection Administration, and shall not be used on the site
until the approval label or exemption label being attached.
Those machineries consume ultra-low-sulfur diesel to
reduce the emission of suspended particles effectively.

In addition, the Group maintains and repairs machineries,
equipment and vehicles on regular basis, with a view to
prevent them from generating excess emissions of exhaust
caused by broken parts and other reasons, and to facilitate
the reduction of fuel consumption.

During the YR2019, the greenhouse gas and exhaust data

RS dERERBRE

AEEEBRE (ERITRE R FRE BT
TR BEERRNAEEZRO A RET AR
BZRARER -MBRAA KM (EHEEER
WMIBDAERRENZERB R LHAHR
REZLNZEASHRIARRER TAIRITH
156 P 35 e M W 15 (£ 1R 7R MK A S0 - B RURL D
FROF R FHER -

I AEESERREREEHSE RER
BEWH - EHEMRTHRBEEZRAMBEREE
BER-UEBRIERE -

RIFE-NFE BREOREREBINEIEN

are as followed: ™~
Categories of emissions Unit 2019 2018
BEMESR B —E-NF —E-N\F
Air emissions
JBE R BE L
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions kg 525.9 435.8
BE MK Tr
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions kg 0.8 0.8
TR k71 Tr
Particulate matter (PM) emission kg 421 36.3
SRR YL 35 T
GHG emissions
BEREHEK
Total GHG emissions! ton CO% 5,659.0 5,179.0
= RS AR WS mES
GHG emissions intensity ton CO% 43.4 421
(per employee)
AERBHNEE WS mES
(BEEE)
Direct emissions (Scope 1) ton CO% 5,464.2 5,159.0
BEEBW (EHE—) WS mES
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) ton CO% 77.9 16,8
MR (BE) WS mES
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) ton CO% 16.9 4.5

HipfEEsem (BE=)

M — SR E &

‘ GHG emissions can be divided into three separate areas (i) direct; (i) indirect; and (i) other indirect.

! BEREEHEIA 2 A= KB AR () E P (i) B PERR - K (i) E At S B PR
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RS dERERBRE

Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from gasoline consumption
by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions resulting from electricity
consumption by the Group.

Scope 3: Other indirect GHG emissions include emission
from business travel by air by employees and
emission from electricity consumption for
processing fresh water and sewage.

Air Pollution — Dust

Dust is generated during construction work. Dust
emissions can mainly be attributed to wind and kinesis.
Construction materials such as sand and cement stored
outdoor as well as the dust of the exposed construction
area are easily scattered in dry and windy weather. In
addition, dust is generated by external force in particular
the construction trucks and machineries during the
process of excavation and soil loosening.

In compliance with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the
Group controls the emission of air pollutants by following
the Group’s internal guidance. It covers all vehicles
carrying sand and other scraps completely with canvas to
ensure that no large amount of dust is generated during
transportation. In order to prevent dust spreading around,
the Group installs water sprinklers on the sites to clean tires
of construction vehicles while entering into or leaving the
sites and roads.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

Waste from daily operation includes general inert waste
and non-inert construction materials from construction
works. The Group manages waste from the site in
accordance with the internal waste management guidance
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance. In general, the Group
categorises the waste from construction works. General
inert waste from work, such as rocks, if applicable, shall
be reused as filling materials at the site or collected by
professional contractors as reclamation materials in the
future. Other waste that is not applicable for recycle or
reuse shall be discarded to the public dumping area. Metal
and chemical waste within the site shall be collected and
discarded by licensed contractors. All waste shall be well
disposed before being removed from the site.

In respect of office waste, apart from dumping waste
at the designated place in line with the requirements of
the property management office of the office premise,
the Group also categorises the waste and engages a
contractor to collect toner cartridge. Meanwhile, the
Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, toner
cartridges and ink cartridges.

RS dERERBRE
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RS dERERBRE

During the YR2019, the data of non-hazardous waste is as
follows:

Categories of waste Unit 2019 2018
BEEYER By —E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Waste

BEZEY

Total non-hazardous waste produced? ton 36 174
FESEREEREMAE? WA

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) 0.3 1.4
MEXBREREVEE W (ZEEE)

Total hazardous waste produced?® ton N/A N/A
FEXEEREREYESS M3 T iE A T E A
Hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) N/A N/A
MELXRERENEE WE(FEEER) TiE A A
Paper kg 2,166 943
AR IR T

Sewage Discharge JEIKBEK

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance. Water consumed at the site shall be discharged
to the designated environmental treatment facility in
accordance with the instruction of the contractors before
being discharged outside the site. The Group shall deploy
adequate manholes and deposition pools in line with
seasons, with an aim to mitigate the water pollution caused
by garbage, oil or other materials.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant
emissions. During the YR2019, the Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and
other relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have
significant impact on the environment. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2019.

During the YR2019, no hazardous waste is generated.

R-FB-NFE IEELEEEED-

@ W NN
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During the YR2019, the Group’s non-hazardous waste from daily operation mainly comprises of iron.
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2.

Use of Resources

The Group encourages its staff to make good use of
resources, and issues internal notice to all of the staff,
requiring them to save energy and reduce consumption:

Turn off all the air conditioners and lighting systems
before leaving the working environment;

Use LED lighting in the office;

Maintain the indoor temperature at 25 degrees
Celsius in the office;

Use recycled paper and double-sided printing as
well as old envelops for internal documents or non-
important/unclassified documents;

Use electronic documents such as email as possible
and reduce paper usage;

Reduce the use of disposable goods and reuse
office stationery;

Make use of telephone/video conferencing
equipment to avoid unnecessary business travelling.

RIR - dERERBE

2. &RER

AEEFEBEIEZRER WHAAEILBEL

REf@E > BB TEpER AT :

. BER TIEIRSERT AT BRRE R
FRBA 2 &

. Rt A =N {E B LEDER B ;

o BAEENBEERFTR25EKE

. ABXHRIFEE REXHEEAR
RELE@ITEN A REHEEH:

EREHEFETFXMH HLBMA:

felo

. MAER— Xt R EEEABRAE
XAE:

. ERERLEREERE BETLE
N

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEMZERERAR
Annual Report 2018/19 —8—/\ —hFFH

67



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RS dERERBRE

During the YR2019, data of resources consumption is as RZE-—NFE BRHESHENDT:

follows:

Type of resources consumption Unit 2019 2018
ERHEEESE B —E-NF —E-N\F
Electricity purchases for consumption kWh 139,352 142,781
BEEM TR B

Electricity consumption intensity kWh (per employee) 1,089 1,161
HEERE TRE(B2EE)

Amount of water consumption m? 5,491 6,725
FEKE MK

Water consumption intensity m? (per employee) 43 55
HKEE MK (BEEE)

Total packaging material used for finished products* kg N/A N/A
RN MR BREMA B2 T N iE A N3 A
Amount of packaging material per unit produced* kg N/A N/A
BHERHBEMEHEE F5 i@ A i A
Petrol liters 18,619 24,204
YU NI

Diesel liters 2,068,400 1,945,638
Seom N

Cement ton 8,212 16,340
IKIE A

The Group considers water resources to be quite valuable AEERRKERHEEEE FIAAEBH N
and the Group is committed to promoting the concept REHAVBKES BEIHHOAKBELRA
of saving water. There is a wide range of water use at Bz #HATHOHEKREHREAPEER K
construction sites. Although the water supply facilities at SETHTHEELETANREKER A
the sites are provided by the contractors, the Group calls EHEASERKGEHIAMAE R 84 F
on the construction workers from time to time not to waste KIEZEZB REEBIEHHAK.

water. As for offices, the Group puts up some slogans with
saving water near taps to remind staff to save water.

= No use of packaging materials since the Group does not have physical products for sale. Therefore, this disclosure is not applicable
to the Group.
‘ HRAEEVEEYEMFEE WY NMEABEME Bt ZRETEARAER-
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3. The Environment and Natural Resource
Noise Management

As certain procedures would produce noises during
the construction, which cause impacts to the residents
nearby, the Group adopts necessary measures to minimize
noises in compliance with the Noise Control Ordinance.
The Group conducts construction during designated
time (e.g. 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. on normal working days) and
applies for Noise Control Permit (NCP) for certain works or
construction ways.

The Group would set noise barriers or noise enclosure at
the early stage during construction period to suppress the
noise level.

Enhancing Environmental Awareness

The Group actively enhances the environmental awareness
of its staff in addition to enhancing environmental
measures, including issuing of internal environmental
guidance and sharing of relevant environmental information
in relation to green office.

RIR - dERERBE
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RS dERERBRE

SOCIETY

Employment and Labour Practices
1. Employment
Employment Policy

The Group has established a series of internal policies
related to employment according to the guidance under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, industry features and
practices to ensure that its employees are provided with
equal promotion opportunity and other packages, such
as minimum wage security, maximum working hours,
compensatory leave, mandatory provident fund or pension
security and rewards for long-term services.

In general, subsidiaries of the Group would make proper
upward or downward adjustment to the number of existing
staff in the recruitment process based on the scale and
actual situation or progress of the existing sites and the
sites awarded. As all employees on the sites are paid on
a daily basis, the employee turnover is relatively at a high
level.

As general foundation construction and ground
investigation services involve certain high-risk activities,
only staff possessed of the Construction Industry Safety
Training Certificate can carry out related work on the site.

Besides, as our subsidiaries engage in construction
business, they will also subcontract some projects to other
subcontractors. In order to ensure that the employees of
the subcontractors could receive reasonable wages, we
usually pay the wages to such employees responsible for
relevant projects on behalf of the subcontractors.

During the YR2019, the Group did not involve any illegal
activities related to employment that had caused material
impact on the Group.
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Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group’s principal businesses are foundation
construction and ground investigation services, which
demand plenty of physical labour force, hence traditionally
male employees are a majority in the workforce of
construction business.

The Group is impartial in choosing its employees, and
has gradually established and improved its recruitment
mechanism. Recruitment of employees is based on their
work experience, techniques and skills, work performance.
The Group does not discriminate our employees on the
basis of their gender, age, origin, nationality, race, religious
belief, sexual orientation, physical disability, marital status
and so on.

Staff Communication

The Group places high priority on staff communication
through various activities and channels, by which it
can understand its staff's needs and strengthen our
relationship. In some traditional Chinese festivals, such as
Chinese New Year Eve, the Company organised New Year
Eve’s dinner for all staff in order to create a harmonious
and friendly working atmosphere and strengthen
communication with staff.

Dismissal

The Group complies with the guidance under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. If terminating the employment of
staff, the Group will follow the process to make reasonable
compensation to the dismissed employees. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment relationship
are set out in the employment contracts of every employee.
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The employment data as at 31 March 2019 is set out RZE—NF=ZA=+—H8 ER&BFEWLT:
below:

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
Employment data Unit 2019 2018
R 2E B —E-hE —B-0\%
Total number of staff Number of staff 128 123
BIHY AEL
By gender
5 &l 2
Male % 89 87
S
Female % 11 13
7t
Employment Type
EEE5
Full-time staff (Male) % 37 38
ERET (BH)
Full-time staff (Female) % 10 12
2BET (&)
Contract staff (Male) % 52 49
BHETI (BMH)
Contract staff (Female) % 1 1
AHBET (L)
Age Distribution
FiRDMH
Below 30 % 6 8
30BR AT
30-39 % 20 18
30-395%
40-49 % 21 26
40-495%
50-59 % 33 31
50-595%
Above 60 % 20 17
B0BR A =
New employees Number of staff 57 37
FEET N ¢
Staff turnover Number of staff 52 55
EIfRK AH
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The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to employment during the course of operation.
During the YR2019, the Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare in Hong Kong. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2019.

2. Health and Work Safety
Occupational Safety

The Group cares about the health and well-being of our
employees. Due to the nature of its businesses, some
employees have to operate a variety of large machines
during daily work, which involves certain safety risk. As
such, the Group implemented various safety measures to
ensure the occupational safety of the employees.

All employees who perform engineering operation must
undergo mandatory basic safety training. Only those
awarded with the Construction Industry Safety Training
Certificate, commonly known as the “Green Card”, can
be employed to carry out related work on the site. In
order to enhance site safety supervision and staff's safety
awareness, the Group has also engaged professional
safety consultants to conduct inspection on site safety so
as to rectify site safety problems immediately and reduce
the occurrence of industrial injury incidents. The Group’s
professional safety consultants also regularly provide
certain safety courses and guidelines on site safety for site
staff and supervisors.

As there are many machinery and other equipment in
the construction sites, employees will be more prone to
industrial accidents. The Group strictly requires workers to
wear safety protection equipment such as safety helmets
and obey the safety guidelines of contractors and the
Group.
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Physical and mental health

Apart from daily work, the Group encourages employees
to participate in various types of outdoor activities which
benefit to the body fitness and mind and keep healthy
to promote the physical and mental development of
employees and maintain a work-life balance.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to health and safety during the course of operation.
In YR2019, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact in Hong Kong. In
addition, there was no record significant safety accidents
and occupational injuries, nor did it have any events
regarding safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards; and no violation
of health and safety laws and regulations was found in
YR2019.

3. Development and Training

The Group actively attracts and retains talents, and trains
employees who have the potential to become managers
in the long run. Therefore, the Group encourages its
employees to receive further education in relation to the
development needs of the Group and make good use
of their talents to achieve their career goals. The Group
offers sufficient internal promotion opportunities to its
employees. The Group promotes its staff based on their
staff performance evaluation results. The Group’s senior
management has extensive experience in the industry
and will actively share their knowledge to facilitate the
development of our employees. Employees may also
communicate with and seek professional advice from their
department heads on their personal career development
planning.
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All staff on the construction site are required to attend site
safety lectures organised by the contractor that last for half
a day to one and a half days depending on requirements of
such contractor. The Group has also asked staff to attend
lectures on construction site safety and crisis training
organised by professionals.

The Group has appointed professionals to provide its
Directors and senior management with trainings on
various aspects such as the Listing Rules and corporate
governance.

4. Labour Standards

The Group rigidly complies with all relevant labour
standards in Hong Kong and actively protects the basic
personal rights and interests of its employees, ensuring
that they work in a fair environment and are respected.
The Group strictly forbids unlawful acts such as child and
forced labour. In order to combat illegal employment of
child and forced labour, the Human Resources Department
of the Group requires job seekers to provide valid
identification before confirming employment to ensure that
applicants can be employed in accordance with the law.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to labour standards during the course of operation.
In YR2019, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance and the relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group did not employ
child and forced labour, nor did it record any cases of
discrimination involving race, religion, age or disability in
YR2019.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has a total of 181 suppliers, mainly including
subcontractors and material suppliers which are Hong
Kong based companies. There was no major change in the
regional ratio during the year.

The Group has long-term relationships and mutual trust
with its major suppliers (including subcontractors, material
suppliers, etc.) based on long term cooperation and mutual
trust, and all of them have been our material suppliers for
more than a decade. As the Group’s businesses are based
in Hong Kong, it chooses to purchase from suppliers in
Hong Kong to save transportation costs.

In addition to geographical factors, the Group chooses
and evaluates its suppliers based on their professional
qualifications, product quality, service capabilities and
pricing, etc. and in accordance with our procurement
policy. Furthermore, the Group strictly stipulated that all
purchase orders on materials are placed by the office’s
purchaser, and purchase orders must be signed by
Directors to be valid.

6. Product Responsibility
Product quality

The Group has been engaged in foundation construction
and ground investigation services for over a decade and
has completed hundreds of projects one after another.
The Group is widely recognised and highly praised by its
clients as it focuses on service quality and is committed
to providing its clients with top-tier service portfolio. To
meet the demand of its clients, the Group has developed
its internal management system and closely monitored its
project execution process, with an aim to render premium
and reliable service to its clients.
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All foundation construction and ground investigation
services provided by the Group shall be verified by the
contractor or surveyor, and the Group believes that this
will also help enhance its clients’ confidence on and
recognition of its services. The Group’s quality control
system on the design, supply and installation of Rock-
socketed Steel H-pile in Pre-bored Hole and Minipile work
has been accredited with 1ISO9001:2015 certification of
quality management system by Accredited Certification
International Limited. During the YR2019, the Group
received no complaints or claims from our customers
arising from the quality issues of the work performed by the
Group or sub-contractors, which in the view of Directors, is
attributable to the effective quality control measures.

Policies of privacy

The Group acts as a provider of money lending services
and has access to personal data of its customers, hence
ensuring privacy of its customers’ information is one of the
most important issues. The Group attaches great attention
to the protection of privacy and intellectual property. The
Group ensures that all the business data of its customers
which may be accessible will be properly dealt with by its
staff and will not be used or leaked without authorisation.

Communication with customers

The Group actively communicates with its customers to
understand their needs and their feedbacks on the services
provided by the Group. In the event that the Group’s
projects could not reach the requirements and expectation
of the customers, the Group will actively cooperate with the
customers and make some remedies so as to satisfy the
requirements of the contractors or surveyors.
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Credit approval policy

Money Lending Policy adopted by the Group has been
designed to ensure that the Group’s business operates in
accordance with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163,
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group will regularly monitor, review
and, when necessary, update the existing policy to ensure
the money lending business is strictly in compliance with the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486,
Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance,
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong
Kong) and other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact relating to advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
by the Group in Hong Kong in YR2019.

7. Anti-Corruption

The Group and its subsidiaries all strictly adhere to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance promulgated by the
Hong Kong SAR Government. The Group seeks to further
review the customers’ information through understanding
customers’ background by way of interview, thereby
identifying and preventing the customers and employees
from bribery, blackmail, fraud and money-laundering in any
way. The Group will regularly review the implementation of
relevant systems and put more resources in improving the
mechanism, if necessary.

The Group has developed a Whistle-blowing Policy
internally. Staff may report to relevant department
managers or senior management in the event that they
identify any irregularities, and the Group will protect the
identity of the informer. The Group shall conduct detailed
investigation on the reported event and take appropriate
actions according to the result.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, which has assisted in monitoring
the corporate governance of the Group and in providing
an objective assessment to the Board on whether a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated
by management. The Group also engaged independent
auditors to conduct external audit, in order to prevent and
control the fraud or wrongdoings within the Group.
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The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption during the course of operation.
In YR2019, there was no case of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong
that have a significant impact. In addition, there was no
report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
YR2019.

8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to and take pride in contributing
to the community in a variety of forms. As a part of the
community that it cherishes, the Group has put its best
effort in helping the local communities and people in
needs in the society and contributing to the well-being of a
community beyond financial support. The Group constantly
encourages its employees to contribute their skills and time
to the community by volunteering its time in the community
development and outreach programs. The Group has
been striving to “reward the community” in different ways.
The Group values its corporate social responsibility by
dedicating to improve its staff awareness of community
care.

The Group proactively seeks to promote the spirit of
corporate social responsibility within the company by
organising or participating in appropriate community
activities. Through various types of events, we encourage
our employees to contribute to the community so as to
help the needy and improve the relationship among staff,
enterprise and community.

In the coming future, the Group will continue to attach
great importance to community services, and will
encourage its staff members to be actively engaged in
voluntary services and join hands together to disseminate
the spirit of services in the community where the Group all
depends on.
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The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 October
2014. Its registered office and principal place of business
are at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1- 1108, Cayman Islands and Room 1802,
18th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is
included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting
Period by operating segments is set out in the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in this annual report. No
dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during the
Reporting Period, nor has any dividend been proposed by
the Directors since the end of the Reporting Period (2018:
nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
19 August 2019. For the purpose of determining the
entitlement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer of books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from 14 August
2019 to 19 August 2019, both days inclusive. During such
period, no share transfer will be effected. In order to be
qualified for attending the forthcoming AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in
the share capital of the Company are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had reserves
amounted to approximately HK$162,326,000 (YR2018:
approximately HK$168,908,000) available for distribution
as calculated based on Company’s share premium and
capital reserve and retained profits/accumulated loss under
applicable provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman
Islands.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report and the Prospectus is set out on page 220 in this
annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders on 9
May 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants or advisors,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a substantial Shareholders,
independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$ 5 million must be approved in advance by
the Company’s Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and
will be at least the higher of () the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 9 May 2015)
and shall expire at the close of business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the
Scheme and there are no outstanding share options at the
end of the Reporting Period. A summary of the principal
terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in Appendix
IV to the Prospectus.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Woon Si
(resigned as Chairman and
executive Director on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chairman on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony (resigned on 31 July 2018)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Chan Kwan
Mr. Yan Shuai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (resigned on 9 July 2018)
Ms. Wang Qing (resigned on 19 December 2018)
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson

Mr. Qin Fen (appointed on 19 December 2018)

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out
in the consolidated financial statements in this report. An
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules have been received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All the independent non-executive Directors has
respectively entered into a service contract with the
Company for a fixed term unless terminated by not less
than three months’ notice (except Mr. Qin Fen with one
month’s notice) in writing served by either party on the
other.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF

DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change
in the information of the Directors since the date of the
2017/2018 annual report and up to the date of this report

is set out below:

Name of Director

BEEps

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

BIELFHTHRANEI351IB)GE EFERBE T
—tF /- NFFRBHEELAFSHE
ARZEBIMT -

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

ESSRDREZENEH

Mr. Lau Woon Si

Mr. Fong Hon Hung

FEMB T E

Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony

(RFEREE

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

RIRFEISTE

Resigned as the executive Director and the Chairman of the Company, the chairman of
the Nomination Committee, and the chairman of the Legal Compliance Committee with
effect from 7 September 2018

BEARRIMTESEREIE REZEGFRENEEERZEGETRE BTN\
FRALBERER

Appointed as the Chairman of the Company with effect from 7 September 2018
BEEARARREF BT —N\FLALtHBEX

Resigned as the executive Director, the member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company, and the member of the Legal Compliance Committee with effective from 31
July 2018

BEARRMTES FTMEESKBEREZERZEGKE B —\FtAH
=t+—HEBER

Appointed as the independent non-executive director of Jiangsu Protruly Vision
Technology Group Company Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange with stock code: 600074, since July 2018

BT \FLALEZERIHRTEREGMEEERMERLAR (—FKRLE
AEFR S Em 2 AR REGMRSE - 600074) 2 B IFANITES

Becoming a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
and holds certificate of Chartered Global Management Accountant and certificate of
independent director of the Shanghai Stock Exchange
RCOMAKFFERGFMIASERSE HEEMBHERESTMEER LEBESFR
SMBIERERESE
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Name of Director

EEnS

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

ESSSINRESERNEH

Mr. Yan Shuai

ERAbSEA

Mr. Chan Kwan
PRE T4

Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy

FHEEL L

Ms. Wang Qing

FHRE

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson

REEELE

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

EFERLLE

Mr. Qin Fen

RESLLE

Appointed as the member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
effective from 31 July 2018. He was also appointed as the chairman of the Legal
Compliance Committee and the member of the Nomination Committee with effect from
7 September 2018
BREARRRFMEEENE BT - \FLtA=T—HBRER - KTEEZFE
REEAHREZEEETIRNMREZEENE BT \FLALHRBER

Appointed as the member of the Legal Compliance Committee with effect from 31 July
2018
BEEREZEEREZEEKE BT —\FELA=T—HREXK

Resigned as the independent non-executive Director, the member of the Audit
Committee, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 9 July 2018
BERRRIBUINTES BREEGNE FTHEESSEIFERIERZEGKE "
BZZE-\FtANBREREX

Resigned as the independent non-executive Director, the member of the Audit
Committee of the Company with effect from 19 December 2018

BERARBYIFNTEERERZEERE BT \F+_A+tHhBEELER

Appointed as the member of the Audit Committee, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the member of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect
from 9 July 2018

BZERTARAIEZZEEGNE FTMEESIERIERZEENE BN
FEARLBREXN

Appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect
from 7 September 2018
EZERARAFREBZEGIR BT \FAALREBEX

Appointed as the independent non-executive director of G-Resources Group Limited
with stock code: 1051 since July 2017

B+t ABZEREBREREEABR AR (RMHMRSE:1051) BUIEMITE
=

Being the Divisional President 2019 of Greater China of CPA Australia
RIZE-NFRMNEAMASERTERNER

Appointed as the independent non-executive Director and the member of the Audit
Committee of the Company with effect from 19 December 2018
EZRERARAFIBUINTEEFREREZEGNE BT \F+_A+LBE
AR
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Group
was a party in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or
any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2019, the Company did not enter into
or have any management and administration contracts
in respect of the whole and any principal business of the
Company.

EFOHE

BREXFBEE BEEMERARE FHE
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, interests and short positions in
the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) held by the
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or have been entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise
have been notified to the Company and Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

(i) Long position in the Company’s Shares

EERITHARRKRS - HERO R EEE
MRS KRKXE

RZE-NF=ZA=1+—8B EFEARADN
TRESRARBNRD ([RE])  ARAK
HEMMEBZE (ERRIBSRAEGD (TF
ZREMERE ) FEXVE) AR D M E#E
hOREARERS MNMEKRMIEXVEET RS
DHAEARARAEBIANERNRR (B
REZEZLPEGRIERGEXRFREFERE
BREBNEZLRR)  HIAKXRBRE
EHLREERHEIG2HHEFE 2 E LM A #E
Sm KRR IRBEFEETAAERTHE AR A
RERZXFTE S OB WT

() REIFARGHOEFRE

Number of

Ordinary Approximate

Capacity/Nature Shares held/ percentage of

Name of Director of interest interested in interests
s/

HEEREEMN IR EB A

BEspE B ERtE HERYE Bak

Mr. Fong Hon Hung (‘Mr. Fong”)  Interests held jointly with other 273,920,000 28.53%

persons; interest in controlled
corporation (Notes 1 and 2)

SE MDA+ H RS

RIEEEm (fE1K2)

FEBREE(THEE])
Notes:
(1) Mr. Fong is the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and

an executive Director of the Company, who owns
approximately 79% shareholding in Samwood Global
Limited (“Samwood”).

2 Suntecli Company Limited (“Suntecli’), Samwood,
Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr. Lau”), Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung
Man Lun Stephen (“Mr. Leung”’) are parties acting
in concert (having the meaning as ascribed thereto
in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
(the “Takeover Code”) pursuant to a confirmatory
deed dated 3 December 2014 (the “Concert Party
Deed”).
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(ii)
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Interests in the associate corporations

Position in the
Name of Director

associated corporations

EFOHE

(i) REBEE .z ER

Approximate percentage
of interest in the
associated corporations

Exns R AR B A B 2 B A REBZE 2 EEMAOB I
Mr. Fong Director of Samwood (Note) 79% in Samwood
el WEESE (i) RFRIE 2 79%
Note: Kiat

Suntecli, Samwood, Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung are
parties acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed
thereto in the Takeover Code) pursuant to the Concert Party
Deed.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’

AND

OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at

31 March 2019, the following persons (not being

a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

BE—RITBALRE FEH FF BlkE T
FAERREEB—BADAL (RAKBTART
BEE) -

FERRREMA RS RAEBERKRGAE
BmRARR

RZE—NAF=ZA=+—HB A TAL (X3
ARBEEHAITHAE) RARRE R kA8 FE
B EEREZES RARKRAEXVEBE2R
BNMLHRERBRETARR RTLHENAR
AIRBESFRPEGPIEI6IKRAFTE ZERL
MRz ERSORA

Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
e
BEERERN
‘2B HE B EmtE ZBEROHAE EZBNEDE
Suntecli Interests held jointly with other 273,920,000 28.53%
persons; beneficial owner
(Note 1 and 5)
ST HEMATHRABENEZ  EalERA
(HteE1X%5)
Samwood Interests held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(Note 1)
FONE HEMA T HRAFEORER (Mit1)
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Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
iy
BEREREHN
a2\ HE B ERtE ZERGOGHAE EEMABEI T
Mr. Lau Interests held jointly with other person; 273,920,000 28.53%
interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 6)
24E 4 HLE M A T HRAFENER  NEEEE
Bz (Hit1%6)
Ms. So Choi Interest of spouse (Note 2) 273,920,000 28.53%
Bt A B (Hat2)
Ms. Kwong Sui Sim Interest of spouse (Note 3) 273,920,000 28.53%
B0 3 18 2 £ i B s s (H7223)
Mr. Leung Interest held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(Note 1)
RESE ELE M A T HRAFBERNER (Ait1)
Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy Interest of spouse (Note 4) 273,920,000 28.53%
PRIm B 2+ e iBiEes (Hat4)
Notes: B &
(1) Suntecli and Samwood with Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung, (1) RE-FITHALRY FHEFRREERBTEFH

are parties acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed
thereto in the Takeovers Code) pursuant to the Concert Party
Deed and accordingly each of them is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by each other. Pursuant to the Concert Party
Deed, Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and Samwood
have been parties acting in concert (having the meaning as
ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) in the course of the
Reorganisation and will continue to be parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers
Code) until such arrangement is terminated in writing by them
pursuant to the Concert Party Deed.

2) Ms. So Choi is the spouse of Mr. Lau and is deemed or taken 2)
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Lau has, or is
deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the SFO.

(©)] Ms. Kwong Sui Sim is the spouse of Mr. Fong and is deemed 3)
or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Fong
has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the
SFO.
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(4) Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy is the spouse of Mr. Leung and is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Leung has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the
purposes of the SFO. Mr. Leung was an executive Director of
the Company and resigned as executive Director on 3 January
2017.

(5)  The 273,920,000 shares (which were beneficially owned by
Suntecli) were charged to Kingston Finance Limited to secure
a loan granted to it. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly owned
by Ample Cheer Limited, which is owned as to 20% by Insight
Glory Limited and 80% by Best Forth Limited. Insight Glory
Limited and Best Forth Limited are wholly owned by Mrs. Chu
Yuet Wah.

(6) Mr. Lau owns approximately 94.65% shareholding in Suntecli
which in turn beneficially owns 28.53% shareholding in the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by
Suntecli for the purpose of SFO. Mr. Lau resigned as the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company with effect
from 7 September 2018.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” and “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2018 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective
close associates, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

EFOHE

@ BRIRERLTIREENERS REFRMEERIIME -
WEBREFERREERB IR REENIE KD
BRERG RAESEERRANTEFUEN T
—tE-RA=ZBERENTES-

(6)  #%273,920,000M% M fn (HFEH E=EER)EEMR T
SHEHBEERARMEAEERER Z KT - 7L
8175 PR A 7 i1 Ample Cheer LimitedZ & 4 * Ample
Cheer Limited i Insight Glory Limited# A 20%1& 25 &
Best Forth Limited# 580%7# z © Insight Glory Limited
K Best Forth Limited B2 AELZ + 2 E#H ©

6) BIEEHEBHSHA4.65% M  MAMSHNERES
R 7)28.53% 4% - B Itk Bt E 75 M E R BIT S -
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BEER FAEEN T N\FLALBREEEAR
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EAZH BEEFAVRSEMNEMEENE
68 1 7

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&£EZRERAR
Annual Report 2018/19 —8—/\ —hFFH

a1



92

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, no Directors are considered to have interests
in the following businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group other than those businesses where the Directors
of the Company were appointed as Directors to represent
the interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

As the Board of Directors is independent of the boards of
these entities, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on
such business independently of, and at arm’s length from
the businesses of these entities.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated
with the authority to review the non-competition
undertakings (the “Non-competition Undertakings”)
given by Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood during the Reporting Period. The independent
non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-
compliance of the Non-competition Undertakings during
the Reporting Period.

Each of Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood has confirmed that he/it had complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings given by them during the
Reporting Period.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and turnover
attributable to major suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period and 31 March 2018 are as follows:

EFOHE

ITEEFREER

TEHERLREPRBEHRAA T N\F=
A=t - BfEASERBELEXZENAD
gk

2019 2018
—E-hE ZZE-N\F
Percentage of construction material purchases ~ fREEZEM K R D B
and construction subcontracted: BETEBEDL:
From the largest supplier RERARER 16.79% 7.97%
From the five largest suppliers RERAANEER 43.97% 22.09%
Percentage of turnover: EEFEADL:
From the largest customers RERAE 29.76% 21.24%
From the five largest customers KERAKREFR 65.65% 61.0%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
who owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest customers nor suppliers
during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company has arranged
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The insurance
covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against
them.

EEFE NENETHEALETARR (BE
EMAERRRAIRARE%RIA L&) RBEHAM
AMERAAEFPA BB EAE &R -

BE -HEFFEALQFES

RBEREA NRBREERNE QR ILE
BE LEIBERARREMES -

EETFNEE

RBEEHEARN ARBE/ARRZERES

BREEERFRESFLAEMRTRABRHE
RoZRRBRERHHNERIZAEBARE
BHERFRERNKA - BR RAXKAEE-
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EEEHE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
articles or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any
charitable donation (YR2018: nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had following
continuing connected transactions:

BRBRE

SRARNFSES AT ESG B E T ERE
MEX  REARRAMBRBEBRRZRL OIS
BEHRMD -

fR SR 88 1

5 45 S8R9 Py - 74 9 B 3 48 3T ST 4E 7 AR R 46
15 8% -

B

RBEHEAN AEB X EFLETAEZHK
(ZE-—NFE &)

KEBEXZRBELIRS

RBEHEARN XEBEATHEBERS

Lease agreements HEWE
Name of suppliers Term of lease agreements Monthly rent Annual rent
HEBERB HE R R A& FHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Chung Hang 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 60,000 720,000
HiE —E-\FOA—HZE
—E-TF=A=+—H
Chung Wah 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 115,000 1,380,000
i —E-\FOA—HZE
—E-TF=A=+—H
2,100,000

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Chung Hang”)
is owned by Mr. Lau as to approximately 94.65%. Mr.
Lau is one of the controlling Shareholders and a former
executive Director.

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited (‘Chung Wah”)
is owned by Chung Hang and Mr. Lau as to 95.00% and
2.50%, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The transaction constitutes connected transactions and is
subject to disclosure requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The lease agreements were entered into on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group where each of the relevant
percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules is less than 5% and the total
fees payable under lease agreements are less than
HK$3,000,000. Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the lease agreements are exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Reporting Period set out in the
consolidated financial statements included transactions
that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the disclosure requirement under the
Listing Rules have been complied with.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has retained the prescribed public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The Company has nominated HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the auditors of the Group during the Reporting
Period until conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

EFOHE

ERRZIBKRAERS W AREBT EHHRAUE
THAETHHRERE -

ZEHERE N EEEREKRERRASEE A
BEBRITY MU LTHRNETHAZFE
MEHBED L RERSNEIRERE HEE
THE B E%E D 1N3,000,0008 Lo BiE L™
RAUAF+THNAZE ZSEHEHRZERR EMA
AIEE+HAZE TR FEER  2ERBI
R BLERRTE ©

BREEMBERRBAEERKRERNEAFT L
MEABEFRIEEBEREE FHERER
ZNRG ABEXZCETLETRMTOHRE
MIE °

DNEREFR

fein

BREAATTESN AR RIBESHA
RAEREH - A2 D RIE LR AR E
AATERTRABEE D25%NREL D
BB o

3 ]

ARBCEEEESAMEBAER AT /A
SERXBEHEIREM BEERERRBF
REBERBLE-

BEetmMmESmAERAFACERBE_Z
—hFRZZE-NF=ZA=+—RHILFENHLK
EUBHmR UENEERRBFRAE LRAE
VTAEEMBBESEERE-
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EEEHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company had complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period, except for the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1.

The details of Group’s compliance with the Code is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Fong Hon Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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Independent Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WAN KEI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 105 to 219, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB BT &3t FH A R
Hodgson iImpey Cheng Limited

B AR E

31/F, Gloucester Tower 7 ik

The Landmark i IR

11 Pedder Street HATH 1198

Central b

Hong Kong 84T R B3
BIZREBEMBRE

RRESHERERATAZTRR
(REEHSZMALAE R A

=R

RZEE (LATEBIEM])EFFTINHRE
105F219EMAESBEZERBR AR ([EA
ANDEEWNBRAR (Lt [BEEE]) WG
BRE UGV BEREBERZZE—NLE=
A=+ —HHNEREMBERAREHEZA LF
BB kEMEERER KEaESE
BREGERERER UREKAUBRERH
BIEITESHBREHRE-

BMRR UWERAMBRRACREZT B SE
“Aﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁm<ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HEEA) (BERMBHEEEN) EETMH S
m&% EEER-_ZE-NAF=A=1+—HH
HAMBMRAREBEZA EFENLES B
REMGEHERE A EREFB (RFKF
1) MEEREZBEME -
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B A BEN RS

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consoligated Financial Staterments section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contract revenue

BESHBANSTTER

RRHER

BPEREBEEEGTMAERME (FBEF
ZA) ([BERFTER])ETE - HMAEZX
ZRETEAENETEEARSE (RBALE
AR AVBRMRAENECI BOFE—F
d-REFBSAMISHEMN (FEXSETH
BRESAD (IR HABILY EKE
YERTTARMEMEREE - RMEE"
BPMESNETRELTE MEE A
MBI ERE-

BRREFITEE

FAREFFFEASRERMNEXRHE RAH
TG AV BRRNEARREENER &
LEREAERMBABEBRAVBREILDEA
EARETREMN RMTSHELEHER
EBNER-

We identified the revenue and profit recognition of
construction contracts as a key audit matter due to
significant management’s judgements and estimations are
required in the determination of the total outcome of the
construction contracts as well as the stage of completion
of construction contracts.

B EES DB WA FoR N RS A —RERE
BH RAREETRESANBER R THREES LN
EER B2EHERNEEE A &5
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Our audit procedures in relation to construction
contract revenue mainly included:

BPmEER R ANEEF I ERRE:

e Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared
by management;

s ENRECEINAALEEERENEENS
W RFEEKR:

e Obtaining an understanding from management
about how the budgets were prepared and the
respective stage of completion were determined;

e RNEBETHEANGRIEZRE TKEENE
FEFE
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Accounting for construction contract revenue

BESHBRANETEE

B AR E

e Reviewing the reasonableness of key judgements
inherent in the budgets and assessing the reliability
of budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of completed
contracts on a sample basis;

s EMREETHMEIZABNSIEML BB
BETKEHNNERGEREETEEN G maT A
FEHEEAISEN

e Obtaining the progress payment applications
submitted by the Company and progress
certificates issued by customers to evaluate the
reasonableness of stage of completion as at year
end and testing the revenue recognition based on
stage of completion; and

e H§ BERATRKMNEENTBFBERZTFELHE
SEAATERNFERTNEEN BN RIE
TERCGE R AR &

e Assessing the presentation and related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirement of HKFRS 15.

o ZEFBUBEWMEEAFE1SFAMTE - T EARS B
BRRNEBMRBARE -

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan receivable

ESREMERIRE SHNEERBERERNBERR

The Group’s trade and other receivables, contract assets
and loan receivable arise from the Group’s construction
contracts, ground investigation services and financial
services business. As at 31 March 2019, the aggregate
amount of trade and other receivables, contract assets and
loan receivable approximately HK$105,451,000.

EEENES REMEYHIE cHNEERBKRERES
B BXEEMNEESY LB ARERSBREER-
RZEBE-NF=A=+—RH B REMEKFKE &4
BE RN E A4 2105,451,00078 7T ©

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018
and recognised the cumulative effect of initial application as
an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 April
2018.

EEER T \FHNA—BEREREEMBMEE
AR ERERANRETERRARE T \FH
A—BHERNARE-

Our audit procedures in relation to loss allowance for
trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivable mainly included:

BHRE S REMEYRRIE - & HNEERERERT
EEBENETEFEERRE:

e Assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the credit control and
estimation of the ECL;

s MMEABMGERHREHAEHEEBENEIER
BT R R AT R B B
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B A BEN RS

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan receivable

ESREMERIRE SHNEERBRERNBERR

The Group measures loss allowances on trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan receivable
at amounts equal to lifetime expected credit losses (the
“ECL”) using a provision matrix which involved significant
management judgement in estimating loss rate and
adjusting factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
EEECRBEGEEREEN2HENREEEHE ([AHFE
EFRDNSEAEEH RHMBYWTIE aHOBEKE
WEFRNEREE ST hEEEAEBHEXNARE
AR ERERRHNERAE RS HRE B RS RTE
R BB AE AR S Y RT A4 ©

We identified the loss allowance for trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivable as a key
audit matter because of the significant balances at the
end of the reporting period and because the recognition
of ECL is inherently subjective and requires the exercise of
significant management judgement.

BRI E 5 REMERGIE &4 EE REWE KA E
ERERBARENFTE REAMEMRNBERERNAR
HRBHEEEEAFABIBURAITEEREEE
) i

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express and
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2018/19 —2—/\—hFFH

Assessing the reasonableness of the ECL by
examining the key data inputs used by management
to form such estimates, enquiring the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, and evaluating whether such data
inputs are appropriately applied in the ECL model;
BB ER B KA BRI R R 5 2UR
BWAE RARK (BEEL RATREER) KT
HEABBEHABRENEREEREEXP X
ZERANEEREEBRNAEM:

Assessing whether items in the ageing report
were categorised appropriately for contract assets
and trade receivables by comparing a sample of
individual items with the underlying documentation;
and

RIBLCEEMEERRANERAXY HEENEE
NEHRWFIARRRETHIHA RS EES A
&

Assessing the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
Z2ERITGTHEANRTE MG M BRERPH
BRAREE -

ERAHEMEL

EFEAHHEMBERARE HEMEREREFHA
MABAEE EFNEREAMBEREEMD
% BB &

BMEEEMBEREANBERL AN REELM(E
BRATITHABTIHZSTHEMERERE
A EE G
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

B AR E

RRMAERAMBRRNEBANS  RANE
TRHBEMES HEUHEED ZEEME
BERERGAMBHERABRMERBERR
THRNBEAGFEEABBREUTFFEEANE
RRANER - EREFPERTH IR AR
BMRRAREMEEFEERERRL  HMBE
BREZFE-EESTE RFLBEEMSRE -

ESHGAMBHRRAARENEE

BERAEFARERERBSMASRMDN
(BFEMBREER) REE (RRED) B
BERETREEEMTENFAEMBRE A
HERREGE AV BRENBE N FEHRNK
FFEK R AR T B B R B K #5 SRR AL P 5 /O I B 42
HEaR-

EREBEFEEMBRRE BEF8RTH &L
BREKLENE N LTEBERBR TRE B
BREFUMNFEER ULEAFBELERS
EM - BRIEFEER EEEBFRAFLR
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EREERHY BARNEEETHES B
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
pbased on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

B AR E

TR EEST MR N BE S ARG E
ENEAREF EEMNLNFY EEERA
MEHOEREERER -

MHEEEMERBEFRRNEEERS
AHAGMEERENSEE-

HEERAREKRL S ERMNBE N
ERERLRIEMERN BT RE
EREGFHEEEFRXBAAENERD
REM MRS BEERENEE
RERNELEERRE - MREMRBR
FEERTHETW AL EEREM
BETRBERAEIBRHEAMBRERSP
MEERE REAENORESE  BIXK
MEERXRIFERBEER RMANER
RERNZHBEHRE B LARGHETR
oA AREFRKBEAALES &
SETREFERE-

AEEEMBRRNERIBTA &
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° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: PO5769

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reEskAMEENGER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK dollars) &%=

“E-NF=A=THIEFE (U8 E)

Notes 2019 2018
[ — Ly -3 —N\&F

Revenue WA 4(a) 202,893,907 226,225,862
Direct costs HEKAR (209,515,928) (253,873,415)
Gross loss £i8 (6,622,021) (27,647,559)
Other revenue RN 5 3,868,242 6,294,664
Other net income H At a5 ) F =8 6 1,754,220 4,107,208
General and administrative expenses —MRITHAX (51,021,877) (45,958,358)
Loss from operations KEEE (52,021,436) (63,204,039)
Finance costs BLE A A 7(a) (4,967,563)  (7,132,100)
Loss before taxation BRE AT E 1R 7 (56,988,999) (70,336,139)
Income tax credit EHRER 8 1,760,374 88,657
Loss and total comprehensive income FREBERZEWZELEHE

for the year (55,228,625) (70,247,482)
Attributable to: PEAL :
Equity shareholders of the Company AR E RS IR (55,228,625) (70,247,482)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 1 2 = -
Loss and total comprehensive income FREERZHEWRIEALE

for the year (55,228,625) (70,247,482)
Loss per share BRER

Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE (BWL) 12 (5.75) (7.32)
Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note EBEAATFEREZHFBEERNGE B HREM
11 to the consolidated financial statements. FF11 e
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMIMIBA SR BmEN— 3D -

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2019 (in HK dollars) 7

—hFE=A=+—H (AETHE)

Notes 2019 2018
e Z=ZT—h&E —NF
Non-current assets IREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B R 13 18,612,912 32,336,477
Prepayment TERT IR 212,874 =
Club memberships =5 290,000 400,000
19,115,786 32,736,477
Current assets REBEE
Gross amounts due from customers for BUREFE4TE
contract work FIEREE 14 - 32,242,675
Contract assets EMEE 17 68,388,439 =
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E Ath fE W FKIA 18 29,076,876 63,581,805
Loan receivable U E K 19 7,985,672
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFABZS
profit or loss EREE 16 41,733,096 =
Tax recoverable B qER 8 798,897 791,387
Cash and cash equivalents ReMASEED 20(a) 337,512,371 415,136,973
485,495,351 511,752,840
Current liabilities REBEE
Gross amounts due to customers for BREFAE4IE
contract work FIE4REE 14 - 24,753,996
Trade and other payables B hHEHMmE 1‘JL E Q! 21 32,891,704 25,022,038
Amount due to a related company BT —FERER IE 22 99,600,000 96,787,500
Amount due to a former director B — AT %%Z RIA 22 95,405,332 55,264,637
Provision for onerous contract EEME Y 2 BE - 442,795
Deferred income T A 23 656,999 1,126,283
Obligations under finance leases R E T E AR 24 3,281,378 5,416,903
Tax payable FERT IR 8 1,672,186 1,777,698
233,507,599 210,591,850
Net current assets RBEEFRE 251,987,752 301,160,990
Total assets less current liabilities EEHBERRBERE 271,103,538 333,897,467

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

_ BmEMBHRKRR

At 31 March 2019 (in HK dollars) R=Z—h"F=A=+—H8 (LL#&TsE)
Notes 2019 2018
[ — Ly -3 —N\&F
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Obligations under finance leases A TH AR 24 - 3,271,088
Long service payment liabilities KRB B E 409,831 384,405
Deferred income LLH&U\ 23 - 656,999
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIBAE 8(c) 2,413,207 4,557,572
2,823,038 8,870,064
Net assets EEFE 268,280,500 325,027,403
Capital and reserves EXR#HE
Share capital RRA 26(c) 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves {1 258,680,500 315,427,403
Total equity attributable to equity RN B R 5 PR R PE AL
shareholders of the Company S 268,280,500 325,027,403
The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to FI105E210EMREHBRER_ZE—NE
219 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board NAZTARBKESgHERRENE I H

of Directors on 26 June 2019 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Fong Hon Hung

T ER
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

ATFTALTRERERE

Zhang Zhenyi
Rik&

Director

BE Pl B SE R A R

%

EF

TE M mERE—
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEmBEXR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK dollars) 2 — 22— hFE=A=1+—HI-FE (B TE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AARERRREN
Share Share Merger Capital Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve profits equity
R R EE aftE ERGE RERF BERAE
(Note a) (Note b)
(KizFa) (K&to)
Balance at 1 April 2017 R-ZB—+tFEMA—-BEH 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 160,692,163 395,274,885
Changes in equity for 2018: “E-\EEZEH:
Loss and total comprehensive income FRNEERZENEEE
for the year - - - - (70,247,482) (70,247,482
Balance at 31 March 2018 R-BE-NE=ZA=+-—-A&H 9600000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 90,444,681 325,027,403
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 15 & X [E A /BB B R 5 28
L2 = = - - (934,534) (934,534)
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 & X EFR & B8 15355 R
Ehd =7 - - - - (583,744) (583,744)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 R-E-NFMNB-HZ
FEiE4e3 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 88,926,403 323,509,125
Changes in equity for 2019: “E-NEREREE:
Loss and total comprehensive income FABBEREZANRGEE
for the year - - - - (65,228,625) (05,228,625)
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=1+—RA&#H 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 33,697,778 268,280,500
Notes: B
(@) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal (@) AHFEBERASESEAE ([EA])FABRIIARAF
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for BB AR AMBARR TG 2 EEEZZR
the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising AHEZZEZRE-
from the reorganisation of the Group (the “Reorganisation”).
(b) The capital reserve represents the deemed capital (b) BEARRBRERABEEZRERFTEINER QR HRE

contribution from its equity shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year ended

31 March 2016.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK dollars) & & ==

mEHTRER

—NE=RA=T—HIEFE (VETHE)

Notes 2019 2018
[ — Ly -3 —N\&F
Cash used in operations KEFARS 20(b) (117,842,645) (38,330,274)
Interest paid ERFE (405) (56,964)
Tax (paid)/refund (BR#R) R (412,674) 2,310,965
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMAESTE (118,255,724) (36,076,273)
Investing activities REZED
Payments for the purchase of property, BEWE BWEMEZEZIEA
plant and equipment (906,070) (4,342,082)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMHE BEIREZ
plant and equipment FriS 318 6,282,000 11,824,000
Interest received AR 2,675,768 2,065,010
Net cash generated from REZEBME
investing activities ReFHE 8,051,698 9,546,928
Financing activities mEEE
Capital element of finance leases rentals paid 2 5 f@t & & & 7Y & &R 21D (5,406,613)  (5,201,947)
Interest element of finance leases rentals paid 2 1+ &t & 2 & 1 & &9 F B 25 10 (313,963) (478,980)
Proceeds from borrowing from a former RE—RAEEZEBEZ
director F1S3KIE 38,300,000 35,000,000
Net cash generated from financing METEREEESESR
activities 32,579,424 29,319,073
Net (decrease)/increase in ReRALEEY BD)
cash and cash equivalents 1 hnEEE (77,624,602) 2,789,728
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERBEESEEY
beginning of the year 415,136,973 412,347,245
Cash and cash equivalents at FREESRBEESEEY
the end of the year 20(@) 337,512,371 415,136,973
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMIMIBA SR BmEN— 3D -

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 7 October 2014 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The address of the Company’s registered office is
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong is Room 1802, 18th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company is
an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Statement of compliance (Continuead)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except certain assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

2. EXEFEE(E)

(@ ERBHGE)

EEEHHASERME TRAKERAR A
BRI HE A REMR A HIEFR R Z AT
LEETBREM G RE LR M E2(c)M % F
e BRRAMAMRRRE R NGB E S HE
BERERAZFEAEEEBZEAMEHES
BRZEMESHREER -

(b) MBHRERNEREE

BE-Z-NEZAZ+—ALFEZHAY
BRELEARARKMELA (0T K%
) -

RRGEEVBRREMELKAELEERTE
HE - HEETEERABEARFEINK-

RENEBTENBRELN 2GREUMBRRT
ZEEEFHHE At RRKR - mAREA -
B hRBZREFESTRRNEAREE A
B WARSXHZERBE -2FHT LB
BREDIRBAEERELEEBIBELTRARAE
MEBZERZEL MABGRIERSRZ
EFAERNEMERREMB I MFHNEE
FEERHEMNHBHEE - BERERTEeHE
S F{ET AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs
and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

0) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period, except for the amendments to HKFRS
9, Prepayment features with negative compensation which
have been adopted at the same time as HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEIHEE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c) SFtBEREH (&)
The Group had been impacted by HKFRS 9 in relation to ZIS% ] ﬁ FEJ EEEBEFEXE B BRE L]
measurement of credit losses and impacted by HKFRS 15 FOREE MBRABROSERZINEGHNEE
in relation to timing of revenue recognition and presentation RENBBEXBEEVBREENFEISHRLE -
of contract assets and contract liabilities. Details of the EHEAVBRELENFIRRBEVBRE
changes in accounting policies are discussed in note 2(c)(i) R E15WH T BUR “%UZ SF1E 9 B R BT R
for HKFRS 9 and note 2(c)(ii) for HKFRS 15. 2(c)(i) & MI 5E2(c)(ii) FFr & it
Under the transition methods chosen, the Group BIEMEENBEEL AEEERFAERS
recognises cumulative effect of the initial application of BB RELEUNFIORRBEBYBRELERNE
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening 15% NEFTE R-ZE-—N\FHA-—BF
balances at 1 April 2018. Comparative information is not HERIERZ - HMESINLRER -
restated.
The following table gives a summary of the opening TREVNZBEAMBRELENEIRKR HE
balance adjustments recognised for each line item in the B BERELEREISR T ENEE M BARREK
consolidated statement of financial position that has been PREERAFVARIABNRE - RX A
impacted by HKFRS 9 and/or HKFRS 15. Line items that FAEHTENEELYEBRERN AL I
were not affected by the changes have not been included. BR T RBF T RBEAMRENETEN
As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be "o
recalculated from the numbers provided.
At Impact on initial Impact on initial At
31 March application application 1 April
2018 of HKFRS 9 of HKFRS 15 2018
HERER HERER
ERUBRE ERMBRE
R-B-N%§ B o5 ERE15%  RZE-N\F
=ZA=t+-H e b2 mA-A
Current assets RBEE
Contract assets é NEE - (205,501) 50,221,794 50,016,293
Trade and other receivables B5 REMEYNFIE 63,581,805 (378,243) (44,194,783) 19,008,779
Gross amounts due from customers for E%%ﬁé?@lﬁ?ﬂ
contract work k] 32,242,675 - (32,242,675) -
Current liabilities REBEE
Gross amounts due to customers for fE Hﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬂu ]
contract work fka 24,753,996 - (24,753,996) -
Provision for onerous contract Eﬁ HEHRE 442,795 - (442,795) -
Non-current liabilities FRBER
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 4,557 572 = (84,339) 4,473,233
Capital and reserves EXK B
Reserves it 315,427,403 (583,744) (934,534) 313,909,125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment
features with negative compensation

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement. It sets out the requirements
for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to
items that existed at 1 April 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore, comparative
information continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

2. EXEFEE(E)

(0 EFBEEH(&E)

() BEBUBHEEEREIN £MTA BEEF
B BHELERFEIRZIEETE  RIHE

EETB R
BAEUNGRELERNFOFNAREBL ST ELE
O 2T A HRRG=E EtEHHER

FECREE SRAELREBEFEMEEN
HBHoEHELBEE-

AEBEREBEBERTHR-_F-N\FHA—
BEAENIER E?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ“#&iﬁﬁll k9
HF-AKEERERERANRATERR

“TE- N\FHA-—BNHVIREEHAE- Iﬁt
HERBEB B EREICREZRMELBEHR -
TERBINR - N\FOA-HEREETEY

HKFRS 9 on retained profits at 1 April 2018. BREEBBIOREREBMNNTE -
Retained profits REEF
Recognition of additional expected credit losses on: R TISBENEIINEHREEEE:
— financial assets measured at amortised cost —REEK AT ENEREE 378,243
— contract assets —BRNEE 205,501
Net decrease in retained profits at 1 April 2018 NZ=E )\EE A—HB®RE &R
kA FRE 583,744
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment
features with negative compensation
(Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition approach
are set out below:

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI”)
and at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”). These
supersede HKAS 39’s categories of held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets measured at FVPL.
The classification of financial assets under HKFRS
9 is based on the business model under which the
financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics. Under HKFRS 9, derivatives embedded in
contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are not separated from the host. Instead, the
hybrid instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

2. EXEFEE(E)

(0 EBEEDH (&)

() BEBUBHEEEREIN £MTA BEE
BYBEEEREIRZIETE  REIFHE
RBATEF 1 (&)

ERBEESHBREIRBRIEZNEE LT
EmE—FHEBHIDT

EHEERTHBEIESE
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@ ([RAFESARMBEZERSE ) MZAF
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DEBABERB G EREIRNER - 25K
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MEERBRATVEFABSFENEREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEIHEE(£)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c) EstBUER®EE (&)

(i)  HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including (i EEBYUBHEER T THTH BEFE
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment BB EERFEIRZIEFTE K EEE
features with negative compensation EAEMH (&)

(Continued)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities THEERCHBESE (E)

(Continued)

The following table shows the original measurement TREVIWASEZHSHEERBRE B

categories for each class of the Group’s financial assets AIE390RMREF 2R UWRREBEE B G5

under HKAS 39 and reconciles the carrying amounts of HERFIHEBIBE BN EHMEERFIWHFT
those financial assets determined in accordance with ETNZEeRmEEREENHE-

HKAS 39 to those determined in accordance with HKFRS

9.

At Impact oninitial Impact on initial At

31 March application of application of 1 April

2018 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018
HER HER

ERERNE  EREBUE
R-F-NF BRELUF BREBUFGE R-B-NF

ZHA=+-H nEe % mA—A
Financial assets measured at BREBHERAGTEZERERE
amortised cost
Contract assets ANEE = (205,501) 50,221,794 50,016,293
Trade and other receivables B5 REMENIE 63,581,805 (378,249) (44,194,783) 19,008,779
Capital and reserves EXK B
Reserves Bl 315,427,403 (583,744) (934534  313909,125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment
features with negative compensation
(Continued)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Continued)

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and
measures financial assets and recognises related gains and
losses under HKFRS 9, see respective accounting policy
notes in notes 2(f), (j)(i), (m) and (p).

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same. The carrying amounts of all financial
liabilities at 1 April 2018 have not been impacted by the
initial application of HKFRS 9.

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39
with the “expected credit loss” (the “ECL”) model. The
ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated with a financial asset and therefore recognises
ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting
model in HKAS 39.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

2. EXEFEE(E)
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MEcBMABZAERNERTE -R_F
—N\FOA-—BZFEcsRHEEREELER
BAERERBVBRELENFESRATE -

ZEEE

EARVBRELENFIORNIFEREEEE]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment
features with negative compensation
(Continued)

Crediit losses (Continued)

The Group applies the new ECL model to the following
items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and loan receivable); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15.

For further details on the Group’s accounting policy for
accounting for credit losses, see notes 2())(i) and (ii).

The following table reconciles the closing loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKAS 39 as at 31 March
2018 with the opening loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018.

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

2. EXEFEE(E)

(0 EFBEEH(&E)

() BEBUBHEEEREIN £MTA BEEF
BYBHEEREIRZIEATE R E
RATES 15 (8)

1ZEER (&)

AEBERNTEEBEEAMNEREEEERE
= :

- RREHEKAHEZEREE (EHRZ
RBREFEEY EHNMHEMERKEMN
EEBER) &

- REBYBREEANSE

15T AEZAE

FRAEBREEFEBEZSTHRZE—F
1B B M sE2)3) K (i) °

TRAR-ZE-/N\F=ZA=+—"BEREEES
FHERFEOREFT cHREEBFEEANR T
—N\FEHUA-—BREFEMHRSE LERIFIR
BEZHVNEBERERE YK

Loss allowance at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39

Additional credit losses recognised at 1 April 2018 on:

RZB-NF=ZA=+—HREEE
B ERIEIREENERERE =
HUATEER_ZT—-N\FEOA—H
ERNBEIMEEEIR:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost —HBEKNAFTECEMEE 378,243
— contract assets —BHEE 205,501

Loss allowance at 1 April 2018 under HKFRS 9 —“ET-N\FHA—BREFENE
REERNFORETHNBIERE 583,744
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including
the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment
features with negative compensation
(Continued)

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
described below:

Information relating to comparative periods has not
been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of
financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS
9 are recognised in retained profits as at 1 April 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for the year ended
31 March 2018 continues to be reported under HKAS 39
and thus may not be comparable with the current period.

The determination of the business model within which
a financial asset is held on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that existed at 1 April 2018 (the date of
initial application of HKFRS 9 by the Group).

If, at the date of initial application, the assessment of
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition would have involved undue cost or
effort, a lifetime ECL has been recognised for that financial
instrument.

e PR wRRME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering
of services, and HKAS 11, Construction contracts, which
specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect
transition method and has recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening
balance of equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore, comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKASs 11 and 18. As allowed by HKFRS
15, the Group has applied the new requirements only to
contracts that were not completed before 1 April 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table summarises the impact of transition to
HKFRS 15 on retained profits and the related tax impact at
1 April 2018:

2. EXEFEE(E)

(0 EBEEDH (&)

(i) BBUBHEEREISS KEHEFEAH
WA (&)

”_)\¢EH EIE’M%E”B’?T'J \?3%5&*5%5@%
g & &

Retained profits RERER
Cost recognition for foundation construction and L3 B AR 58 % + b 80 R AR 7%

ground investigation services RN 1,461,668
Provision for onerous contract BRSNS (442,795)
Related tax MHEET IR (84,339
Net decrease in retained profits REBABFR A FEE 934,534
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on FHABATETREEINMENTENE—F
previous accounting policies are set out below: HEHIMT

@) Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue arising from construction contracts and
provision of services was recognised over time, whereas
revenue from sale of goods was generally recognised at a
point in time when the risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods had passed to the customers.

@  ERWA BEF T

BAERZESORREHRBEENRARKEZ
REER MEEEmELEMNKRA— ﬁxﬁ’\iéiuc'u
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2.

(c)

(i)

@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or service
in the contract. This may be at a single point in time or over
time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following three situations in
which control of the promised good or service is regarded
as being transferred over time:

When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

When the entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced;

When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall
into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the
entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good or
service at a single point in time, being when control has
passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is only
one of the indicators that is considered in determining
when the transfer of control occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction price
for the time value of money when a contract contains a
significant financing component, regardless of whether
the payments from customers are received significantly in
advance of revenue recognition or significantly deferred.

Previously, the Group only applied such a policy when
payments were significantly deferred, which was not
common in the Group’s arrangements with its customers.
The Group did not apply such a policy when payments
were received in advance.

Where payment schemes include a significant financing
component, the transaction price is adjusted to separately
account for this component. In the case of payments
in advance, such adjustment results in interest expense
being accrued by the Group to reflect the effect of
the financing benefit obtained by the Group from the
customers during the period between the payment date
and the completion date of legal assignment. This accrual
increases the amount of the contract liability during the
period of construction, and therefore increases the amount
of revenue recognised when control of the completed
assignment is transferred to the customer. The interest is
expensed as accrued unless it is eligible to be capitalised
under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(v).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

©) Presentation of contract assets and liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised only if the
Group has an unconditional right to consideration. If the
Group recognises the related revenue (see note 2(t)) before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration for the
promised goods and services in the contract, then the
entitlement to consideration is classified as a contract
asset. Similarly, a contract liability, rather than a payable,
is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is
contractually required to pay consideration and the amount
is already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue. For a single contract with the customer, either a
net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net
basis (see note 2(1)).

Previously, contract balances relating to construction
contracts in progress were presented in the statement
of financial position under “trade and other receivables”,
“gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
or “gross amounts due to customers for contract work”
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31 March
2019 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1
April 2018

The following tables summarise the estimated impact
of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019,
by comparing the amounts reported under HKFRS 15 in
these consolidated financial statements with estimates of
the hypothetical amounts that would have been recognised
under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 if those superseded
standards had continued to apply to 2019 instead of
HKFRS 15. These tables show only those line items
impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 15:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c)

(i)  HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with (i)

customers (Continued)

(d)

(@) Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31 March

ERETHE(EF)

B RERES (£)

BB BREERE15S KEEF AL
WA (&)

RZFE—-NFHOA— HRRAEE 5 #H
HFEAFEIGRHBEE—_FT—NF=H

2019 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1

=T HUFEMEZRTHEN G ZE

April 2018 (Continued) CHEE(E)
Difference:
Estimated
impact of
Hypothetical application of
Amounts  amounts under HKFRS 15
reported in HKASs 18 on 2019
accordance and 11 E8 ER
with HKFRS 15 RE BRYH
Line items in the consolidated statement of BZ-Z-NE=A=+-HLt BEEBHE EREHEN HEEHFE5H
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2019  FEZGRABEXRTTEAER HEENF5E F18HERENE H-Z-NEH
impacted by the application of HKFRS 15: B s R 155 S EMER 2HNEE WEELE CHE%
Revenue KA 202,893,907 195,662,102 7,231,805
Direct costs HERA (£00515028)  (202,088,744) (7,427,184)
Gross loss 2 (6,622,021) (6,426,642) (195,379)
Loss from operations LEER (52,021,436) (51,826,057) (195,379)
Loss before taxation BB AIER (56,988,999) (56,793,620 (195,379)
Income tax credit FEHES 1,760,374 2,070,978 (310,604)
Loss and total comprehensive income ERFERZHNSAE
for the year (55,228,625) (54,722,642) (505,983)
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of ANAERRREGER
the Company (55,208,625  (54,722,642) (505,083)
Loss per share SRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAREE (BL) (5.75) (5.70) (0.05)
Line items in the consolidated statement R-B-AF=ZR=t-Hz&K&E
of financial position as at 31 March 2019 BERRRPZEATEYE
impacted by the application of HKFRS 15: REERE15EFENER .
Current assets RBEE
Gross amounts due from customers for contract work JEREF &4 TR FUEEE - 46,528,692 (46,528,692)
Contract assets BHEE 68,388,439 - 68,388,439
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMENGIE 29,076,876 63,082,411 (34,005,535)
Tax recoverable A EHIR 798,897 1,052,415 (253,518)
Total current assets REBEELAH 485,495,351 497,894,657 (12,399,306)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

e ISR

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSHBE(£Z)
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) (c) EstBEREE (&)

(i)  HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with (i) BEBHBEHREERFE15% KEEFEHL
customers (Continued) WA (&)

(@)  Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts @ RZFE-NFHA—ARAE BN EHREE

reported in respect of the year ended 31 March
2019 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1

RIE 15 E —F—NF=A=—"—HIF
FRITZ#HE RO ZEZBE (B)

April 2018 (Continued)
Difference:
Estimated
impact of
Hypothetical application of
Amounts  amounts under HKFRS 15
reported in HKASs 18 on 2019
accordance and 11 =8 ER
with HKFRS 15 RE BRHK
Line items in the consolidated statement of RZEB-1E=R=+—-HZ BEEBHE BFRENEN HEERF5H
financial position as at 31 March 2019 GRUBRARPZEREE BEEAEIE F1SRRENE H-F-AEFH
impacted by the application of HKFRS 15: B R 155 S S MER 2HNEE WERELE CHE%
Current liabilities RBAE
Gross amounts due to customers for contract work ~ ERNEFAX TRZALE = 6,983,026 (6,983,026)
Provision for onerous contract BREEANRE - 3,948,510 (3,948,510)
Total current liabilities RBaEaE 233,507,599 244,439,135 (10,931,536)
Non-current liabilities FRBasE
Deferred tax liabilties ELRAAE 2,413,207 2,440,460 (27,259)
Total non-current liabilities FhBaEEE 2,823,038 2,850,291 (27,253)
Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Reserves B 058,680,500 260,121,017 (1,440517)
Total capital and reserves BEXRRBELAE 268,280,500 269,721,017 (1,440,517)
Line items in the reconciliation of loss before ~ BE-ZE-NE=ZA=+—-HLEE
taxation to cash used in operations for the year BHAIFEESLERFTREL 2
ended 31 March 2019 (note 20(b) impacted by %5 (Kit20(b)) REAE BB %
the application of HKFRS 15: REERB155EFENER .
Loss before taxation BHAEE (56,988,999) (56,793,620) (195,379)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 kA REYGRIEE M (10,166,591) (232,101) (9,934,490)
Increase in contract assets BHEEEN (18,423,193) - (18,423,193)
Increase in gross amounts due from customers EhREPAHTIIEFIBEBEEM
for contract work - (14,287,807 14,287,807
Decrease in gross amounts due o customers EREFPEANTIRFBERR D
for contract work - (17,770,970) 17,770,970
Increase in provision for onerous contracts BEMES DR - 3,505,715 (3,505,715)

The significant differences arise as a result of the changes

in accounting policies described above.

SR BRREPELENENZAN L XXM -
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary
prepares its financial statements using accounting policies
other than those adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with
the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (i) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through: () a contractual arrangement
with other vote holders; (i) rights arising from other
contractual arrangements; (jii) the Group’s voting rights and
potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above,
based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the equity
shareholders of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the equity shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes
2(n) or (0) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment is classified as
held for sale.

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 27(f). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows.

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(t)(iv)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Other investments in equity securities
(Continued)

Investments other than equitly investments (Continued)

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investment

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained profits.
[t is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(9) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

2()).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

o Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
° Leasehold improvements 5 years
° Motor vehicles 5 years
o Machinery 4-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h)  Club memberships

Club memberships are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and
impairment losses (see note 2())).

Amortisation of club memberships with finite useful life is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the period and method
of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Club memberships are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases.

(i)  Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are recognised as property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 2(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note
2(j). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so
as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(iijj  Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iv)  Sales and leaseback arrangement resulting in
finance lease

A sales and leaseback arrangement which results in a
finance lease is a means whereby the lessor provides
finance to the lessee with the asset as security. To reflect
the substance of the transaction, any excess of sales
proceeds over the carrying amount of the asset, or any
deficit of sales proceeds lower than the carrying amount of
the asset, is deferred and amortised as an adjustment to
amortised over the lease period.

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and

other receivables and loan receivable); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
securities measured at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivable:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(t)(iv)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, lease
receivable or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Prior to 1 April 2018, an “incurred loss” model was used
to measure impairment losses on financial assets not
classified as at FVPL (e.g. trade and other receivables,
available-for-sale investments and held-to-maturity debt
securities). Under the “incurred loss” model, an impairment
loss was recognised only when there was objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
included:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continued)

= it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

= significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss was
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of
discounting was material. This assessment was made
collectively where these financial assets shared similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which were assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar
to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreased and the decrease could be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss was reversed through
profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss was only
recognised to the extent that it did not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continueqd)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors
directly and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other changes
in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in
profit or loss.

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
property, plant and equipment and club memberships may
be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(k) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see note 2(g)) or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(k) Other contract costs (Continueq)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of () remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 2(t).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(1 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2(t)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in
the contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected
credit losses (‘ECL”) in accordance with the policy set out
in note 2()() and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration has become unconditional (see
note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(t)). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(t)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

()] Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Continued)

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

In the comparative period, contract balances were
recorded for construction contracts at the net amount
of costs incurred plus recognised profit less recognised
losses and progress billings. These net balances were
presented as the “gross amounts due from customers for
contract work” (as an asset) or the “gross amounts due to
customers for contract work” (as a liability), as applicable,
on a contract-by-contract basis. Progress billings not yet
paid by the customer were included under “trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related
work was performed are included under “trade and other
payables”. These balances have been reclassified on 1
April 2018 as shown in note 17 (see note 2(c)(i)).

(m) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see note 2()).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

2())(0)-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group'’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(v)).

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(j)(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(q) Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(r) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(r) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

= the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

(t) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

1) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates to
work on construction under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create or
enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method, based on direct measurements of the value to
the customer of goods or services transferred to date
(“Value to the Customer”) provided that the Value to
the Customer is established according to the progress
payment application (by reference to the amount of
completed works confirmed by in-house surveyor)
submitted to the customers or progress certificate (by
reference to the amount of completed works confirmed by
customer) issued by the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

() Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Construction contracts (Continued)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Revenue for construction contracts was recognised on a
similar basis in the comparative period under HKAS 11.

(ii) Ground investigation services revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a service contract when the contract relates to work
on ground investigation assets under the control of the
customer and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

1) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Ground investigation services revenue
(Continued)

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output method, based on
direct measurements of the value to the customer of goods
or services transferred to date (“Value to the Customer”)
provided that the Value to the Customer is established
according to the progress certificate (by reference to the
amount of completed works confirmed by customer)
issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Revenue for ground investigation services was recognised
on a similar basis in the comparative period under HKAS
11.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

() Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iij)  Rental income from lease of machinery

Rental income receivable from lease of machinery is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2())(i)).

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

(w) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

ERETHE(EF)

(w)

Related parties (Continued)

(Continued)

(i)

(V)

(vii)

(viil

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(x)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(x) Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
loss from operations of the Group are primarily derived
from activities in Hong Kong.

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group’s
historical experience with similar assets taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueqd)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of trade and other receivables,
contract assets and loan receivable

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
the trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivable. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables,
contract assets and loan receivable with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECLs
individually. The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s trade
and other receivables, contract assets and loan receivable
are disclosed in note 27. If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, the actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.

In the comparative period, the Group evaluated whether
there was any objective evidence that trade receivables
were impaired, and estimates allowances for doubtful
debts as a result of the inability of the debtors to make
required payments. The Group based on the estimates
on the ageing of the trade receivables balance, credit-
worthiness of the customer and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of the debtors were
to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than
estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)  Sources of estimation uncertainty

(iijj  Construction contracts and ground
investigation services contracts

As explained in policy note 2(t), revenue from construction
contracts and ground investigation services contracts
are recognised over time using the output method. Such
revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects are
dependent on estimating the outcome of the contract, as
well as the work done to date. Actual outcomes in terms
of total costs or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

In the comparative period, revenue from construction
contracts was also subject to such estimation uncertainty.
In addition, the contract assets arising from construction
contracts were included in gross amounts due from/(to)
customers for contract work and were disclosed in note
14, rather than note 17.

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are foundation

construction, ground investigation services and financial
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

Revenue represents revenue from construction contracts,
from ground investigation services and from financial
services. Further details regarding the Group’s principal
activities are disclosed in note 4(b):

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
of each significant category is as follows:

4. WARDHEE (&

(@ WA(E)
WARBRZEALD LIRS RS RR

BHRA - ERAKEIZEH2E T FE
PP EE4(b) K B

EBEABRZKEEFPEHNRANDENT

2019 2018
—E-hEFE ZEZE-NF
(Note)
(FI3E)

Revenue from contract with customers ERU KR EERFE1555

within the scope of HKFRS 15: HEARBEFSHZBA:
Revenue from construction contracts REBES DR A 166,458,951 190,937,542
Revenue from ground investigation services R 8 1 b 5B AR 75 B U A 35,681,700 35,288,320
202,140,651 226,225,362
Revenue from other sources R B H A IR A U A

Revenue from financial services RE2RRBEAUA 753,256 =
202,893,907 226,225,862

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the
cumulative effect method. Under this method, the
comparative information is not restated and was prepared in
accordance with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 (see note 2(c)(ii)).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note
4(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately HK$98,819,000. This amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts and ground investigation services.
The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed or, in the case of the
construction contracts and ground investigation services,
when the obligations performed, which is expected to
occur over the next 1 to 2 years.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior management
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following three
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

° Foundation construction: this segment provides
foundation construction works to customers in
Hong Kong.

o Ground investigation services: this segment
provides ground investigation services to customers
in Hong Kong.

° Financial services: this segment provides
investment, financing and money lending services.

Segment information is presented only in respect of the
Group’s business segments. No geographical analysis is
shown as less than 10% of the Group’s revenue, loss from
operations and assets were derived from activities outside
Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets
with the exception of unallocated head office and corporate
assets, current tax recoverable and deferred tax assets, if
any. Segment liabilities include all current and non-current
liabilities with the exception of current tax payable and
deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment (loss)/profit is (loss)/profit before
taxation.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueqd)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018 are set out below:

e ISR

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

4. WARDH®RE (&)

(b) DE®/E (E)

() DEFEE BERERE (&)

?EH&U\TJEWHTF?% ARBEPAENBAARE
AAEEAZ2ROMHEN AEBRBRIT
KMIE}\E'\?JE%T/J? EEFERFEEE-F
—hWFEZFE-AF=ZA=+-HEFETH
RIHER - FFMT -

Year ended 31 March 2019
BE-E-NF=A=1t-HLEE

Ground
Foundation investigation Financial
construction services services Total
HWEEE T i BRI AR SRRHE @t
Disaggregated by timing of revenue RUARIRHEIE
recognition - Over time -BRE 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Revenue from external customers HEBEFEBRA 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Reportable segment revenue 2R HKA 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Reportable segment gross (loss)/profit W 2H 2% (£8) /EF (17,027,683) 9,852,730 552,932 (6,622,021)
Reportable segment (loss)/profit 2RI B (BR) /%H (38,978,367) 2,391,134 (10,804,256) (47,391,489)
Interest income from bank deposit BT ERA WA - = 2,736,282 2,736,282
Interest expenses FERY 2,155,063 = = 2,155,063
Depreciation for the year FRTE 7,831,926 674,395 809,937 9,316,258
Reportable segment assets 2RI BEE 226,849,305 24,907,743 411,886,678 663,643,726
Additions to non-current segment assets ~ FAFERE D HEE
during the year fRE 572,274 26,880 94,042 693,196
Reportable segment liabilities IE2RFIBEE 149,297,991 4,399,616 400,732,657 554,430,264
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

S
=

AR D BERE (&

i

mBE|E (F)

B

(b)
() DEFE BEERARE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2018
HE-Z-\F=A=1+—-HIFE

Ground
Foundation investigation Financial
construction senvices services Total
WERE T AR SRRE Bt
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
GES) (BsE) (sE) GES)
Disaggregated by timing of revenue RUARIRHEIE
recognition - Over time —FER 190,937,542 35,288,320 = 226,225,862
Revenue from external customers HEBEFBRA 190,937,542 35,288,320 = 226,225,862
Reportable segment revenue AEHEIBYA 190,937,542 35,288,320 - 226,225,862
Reportable segment gross (loss)/profit T 2#H 2% (£18) /EF (35,438,095) 7,790,542 = (27,647,553)
Reportable segment loss IE2RSBER (56,983,796) (33,872) (6,404,675) (63,422,343)
Interest income from bank deposit RITFEHHABHA 100 = 2,018,766 2,018,366
Interest expenses MERE 2,632,100 = S 2,632,100
Depreciation for the year ERHE 15,518,152 919,713 597,147 17,035,012
Reportable segment assets NEHIBEE 228,591,607 23,391,628 399,332,929 651,316,164
Additions to non-current segment assets ~ FAFERE D HEE
during the year MRE 744,672 38,000 3731,140 4,513,812
Reportable segment liabilities 2R HEE 111,975,557 4,097,628 377,215,269 493,288,454

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using cumulative
effect method. Under this method, the comparative
information is not restated and was prepared in accordance

with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 (see note 2(c)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4, WARDEBRE (&)
REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SEWBHE(E)
(i)  Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) FTEHFEFHBUA Bz BEREBEZHEK
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities
2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\F
Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated 2| D BRARLEE
revenue (note 4(a)) WA (FiaEd(a)) 202,893,907 226,225,362
Loss BB
Reportable segment loss A 2HH IEE (47,391,489) (63,422,343)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses ROBCBHERMPERAS (9,597,510)  (6,913,796)
Consolidated loss before taxation BRI AIARE B E (56,988,999) (70,336,139)
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets AIEWoEEE 663,643,726 651,316,164
Elimination Y4 (160,933,570) (108,648,966)
502,710,156 542,667,198
Tax recoverable A 4 B 7 18 798,897 791,387
Unallocated head office and corporate assets ROMBNREREMTEEE 1,102,084 1,030,732
Consolidated total assets REEBEEBE 504,611,137 544,489,317
Liabilities =K
Reportable segment liabilities AEWwoHEEE 554,430,264 493,288,454
Elimination 44 (421,950,020) (376,985,310)
132,480,244 116,303,144
Tax payable FEIFR IR 1,672,186 1,777,698
Deferred tax liabilities RERHIBEE 2,413,207 4,473,233
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities Ao BRFERMTEERE 99,765,000 96,907,839
Consolidated total liabilities e RAREesE 236,330,637 219,461,914
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. WARDHRE (&£
REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEFHE (&)
(i)  Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) FTEFEFHBKRA 1Bz BEREEZHE
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (#&
(Continued)
Information about major customers EHFEEFHEH
Revenue from customers of construction contracts RERBEGHANEFPBRAREBEBAEEHASE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for BMWABRIBAI0%NBERRAT :

the corresponding years are as follows:

2019 2018
—®-NE —T-NF

Construction contracts: BEAY:
Customer A ZEFEA 60,387,071 N/A 35 3 *
Customer B ZFB 41,659,621 48,289,525
Customer C EFC N/AREA* 30,259,132
Customer D ZFED N/ATER* 27,827,521
* Revenue from the relevant customer was less than 10% of the * REBEERBEEFP KA RNEBBKRATBER
Group'’s total revenue for the respective year. 10% °
5. OTHER REVENUE 5. Hg A
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
Rental income from lease of machinery HEEHES WA - 2,682,270
Bank interest income RIT R B A 2,736,282 2,018,866
Insurance claims REBRRE - 573,821
Others HAh 1,131,960 1,019,707
3,868,242 6,294,664
6. OTHER NET INCOME 6. HibW = F 58
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ZE-N\E
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  HFER&BERE
plant and equipment 1,181,497 3,013,361
Net change in fair value on financial assets at BRATEGFABRNESH
fair value through profit or loss BEMNATEZHFHE (551,464) -
Amortisation of deferred income % JE U A 2 8 1,126,283 1,126,283
Net foreign exchange loss M 5 E IR F R (2,096) (32,436)

1,754,220 4,107,208
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

7. BRBAER

BREAERDENE, (FHA) THRERE

2
2019 2018
—E-hE —TN\F
(a) Finance costs (@) REERAE
Interest on borrowing from a related company KE—FEEAEAREEZHE 2,812,500 4,500,000
Interest on borrowing from a former director RE—BAEEEEZFE 1,840,695 2,096,156
Interest on bank overdraft RITEZFE 405 56,964
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases  &l& fl & % %J* M B ER 313,963 478,980
4,967,563 7,132,100
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ b) EBEIRK(BEES
remuneration) <)
Contribution to defined contribution AEHFOERARE S A HK
retirement plans 1,782,117 1,952,215
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TEKEMBER 61,459,472 65,652,121
63,241,589 67,604,336
Add: Amounts included in gross amounts due from  fl: st AR EFE A4
customers for contract work TR IAAAZAH) FXTE - 3,072,539
63,241,589 70,676,875
(¢)  Otheritems () HfEHE
Depreciation we 9,316,258 16,434,651
Add: Amounts included in gross amounts due from mEAEKERPEH
customers for contract work TR FIAARZAH) X TE - 600,361
9,316,258 17,035,012
Impairment loss on club memberships (Note) SHEBEESE (M) 110,000 —
Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, B REMBWHIE &4
contract assets and loan receivable BENMEKES /UZ E J?E'ﬁ # 291,050 -
Operating lease charges ERE Y
— hire of machinery — 70 & He 11,042,669 14,749,870
_ hire of properties —HAEmE 6,557,240 6,118,959
Auditors’ remuneration % E R B & 880,000 800,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE WMEMEB2ZRE  (1,181,497)  (3,013,361)
Net foreign exchange loss b B8 F R 2,096 32,436

Note:

The directors of the Company consider HK$110,000
impairment identified with reference to the second hand
market price of the club memberships as at 31 March 2019
(2018: nil).

fiz: ARRAEEFN2ESEN T - NF=A=+—H

ZZFmBERERAELIERE10,0008 T (=

T \F:E) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

8.
(a)

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax credit in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

(a)

FriEBiE R
FEEERAEMEERBERTHAEHER

15

2019 2018
ZB-hAE —EN\F
Current tax B A 18
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year FANEBNEHEE 329,652 131,401
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years BEFE (BEEE)/
BHEIrRE (30,000) 1,288
299,652 132,689
Deferred tax EERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences T E R E £ R E (2,060,026) (221,346)
(1,760,374) (88,657)
Notes: B 5T

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman lIslands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profit tax rate
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the follow day.

Under the two-tiered profit tax rate regime, the first HK$2
million of assessable profits of a qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the current financial year, Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at
8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million. For the remaining subsidiaries of the
Group in Hong Kong, they are subject to 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits under Hong Kong Profits Tax.
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Annual Report 2018/19 =B—/\/—h&E&H

RERAEFENRULAY NEEHAHMHES
HEEMMEHR-

RZFB-NF=ZA-+—H BELEZEREB -
T EHRB (R (BTR)GHIER ([HRHIE
) SIANGHBAS - FHIERR -_F—\F=
AZ+HN\RERSBRAER IRBAEBRTE -

RIBFB RS & &% 5 E T8 52,000,000
TORERRTR % BT R 528.25% » 1M #8382,000,00078 7T
FERTHE TN BT R 516.5% ° NEAFEF R H 2
EEEENERD MG EEIR16.5%3] —FHEH
i o

At BAFBREER AERERTEENEENE
i ¥ (i 51 8 2R %4 3% A 2,000,000 7T BA8.25% 74 &
T8 - 382,000,000/ 7L 1£16.5% 5T & - AEBE R
EB N EHBKB R TR E T E RO R A 16.5%H)
TR BINE BTG -



(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Income tax credit in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 March 2018.

The provision for Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at
12% of the estimated assessable profits for years ended 31
March 2019 and 2018.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

8. FEHER (&)

(a) %?A}ﬁé)}ﬁf&éﬁl&féﬁﬂhﬂﬁﬁﬁ SRR
B: (&)

BaE : (4F)

(i) HE_Z- ) \E=ZA=+—HLFE BBEMNEH
BB Ty pL b T FERR B i FI 1R 16.5% 2 B R G+ H

(ii) BE_Z—NEER_ZF—\F=A=+—HILFE"
S P R 7o F BEE T B AT FE AR BE Al IR 12% 2 B R
A&

(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and (b) FEHEEERBAREFENRBAZE
accounting loss before taxation at applicable BiREZENHER:
tax rates:
2019 2018
—EB-hEFE —ZT-)N\F
Loss before taxation B %1 Bl ES 1B (56,988,999) (70,336,139)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated BEBA AR NEABR X
at the rates applicable to losses ATENREAIEE
in the jurisdictions concerned HEIE (9,533,700) (11,604,221)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR S IS & 2,063,631 2,895,352
Tax effect of non-taxable income BER UL A B TR 7S 52 2 (785,449)  (1,029,333)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised MARTEREREER Y

MiERE 340,081 2,295,721
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RIERAE B HIBEER

MIERE 6,185,063 7,573,882
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years BEFE (BEEE)/

BT B (30,000) 1,288
Others Hib - (221,346)
Actual tax credit ERHIER S (1,760,374) (88,657)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 8. FiEHER (&)
(¢) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (c) HEMBRARNAAEHRIE:

financial position represents:

(i)  Current taxation () EIAHE
2019 2018
—E-hE ZZE-)N\F
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year FRBEENEHEE 329,652 131,401
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENEHFEH - (1,402,607)
320,652  (1,271,206)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision HBATFEEBANES
relating to prior years FSH BB 543,637 2,257,517
873,289 986,311
Representing: =
Tax recoverable CIEqER sl (798,897) (791,387)
Tax payable FETFR I8 1,672,186 1,777,698
873,289 986,311
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 8. FiBHERE(£&)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (c) HZEMBRRRNOFEHIE: (&)

financial position represents: (Continued)

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

(i)  Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (i) ERZELEHEZEREE
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities REMBURARNERRELERIEBEEERAE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MABEKTP RN FRANESHHT :

position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
the related
depreciation Others Total
RERERL
Deferred tax arising from: EEBERE: HERE Hith st
At 1 April 2017 AZE—+EMA—R (4,804,088) 25,170 (4,778918)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss WEEEP st/ (308) 330,855 (109,509) 221,346
At 31 March 2018 R-Z-NE=A=+-AR (4,473233) (84,339) (4,557 572)
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 15 EM‘W% B RS ER £ 155
o= = 84,339 84,339
At 1 April 2018 R=B—\EMA—H (4,473,233) - (4,473,233
Credited to profit or loss REZEFEA 2,060,026 - 2,060,026
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE-A=+-H (2,413,207) - (2,413,207)
Notes: B 5
0] Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, the Group (i) RERERABBMEHRELERFE15%RE AEEE

has recognised deferred tax credit arising from the cost

recognition for foundation construction which had been HEITHER (LB E2(0)(i)) °

recognised (see note 2(c)(ii).

?ﬁEE&” W B R SR 2 XA FER AT EE A B AE TR IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents: (Continued)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position is as follows:

8.
(c)

(ii)

B (&)

REVMBRRRNFAEHRE: (£)

ERZFEEHEALEERER (&

FEPBARRKERNOT

oW

2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZE-N\F

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

REMBRRKRAD HER
BT TR B BEFE - -

RAEMBRRARAD HER
EEHIAREFE

(2,413,207) (4,557,572)

(2,413,207)  (4,557,572)

(d) In accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(r), the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax
losses of approximately HK$88,108,000 (2018:
HK$45,902,000) as it is uncertain that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.
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BEHMF2NHE 2 EFEHEK  AEE XL
EEREHERAFTHIEEIELS88,108,000
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FEHEEBNEEBRL A RRERM & F A
REAHBBZEBRFETETE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. BEEEMH
Directors’ remuneration during the years ended 31 March BE_T-NFERZE-N\NF=ZA=+T—81
2019 and 2018 which was included in the staff costs as FEEGANFETOMEENE TRKANES
disclosed in note 7(b) is as follows: FMT :
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-ZE—hE=ZA=1+t—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus in kind contributions Total
e ERK
E=He FiETEA BNEAN  BAFEMHER @t
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lau Woon Si (Note (vii) BasE o (I sk i) - - 628,000 - 628,000
Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Chairman B %4 (EER
and chief executive officer) TREH) - - 1,495,000 18,000 1,513,000
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony (Note (vi) BT 8% 4 (BizEwi) - 62,922 487,755 6,000 556,677
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (Note (i) RIRE ST A (FI5E()) - 660,000 1,278,710 18,000 1,956,710
Mr. Chan Kwan (Note (i) BRELAE (M) - 539,444 1,000,000 18,000 1,557,444
Mr. Yan Shuai (Note (i) BRED S A (M) 500,000 539,444 500,000 9,000 1,548,444
500,000 1,810,810 5,389,465 69,000 7,760,275
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Ms. Wang Qing (Note (vii)) FrE 2 (M5 (vii)) 301,452 - - - 301,452
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EERLAE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Ms. Li Znhongye Cindy (Note (v)) ~ ZHEZ+ (MHzEV)) 39,484 - - - 39,484
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (Note ()) 2515 4 (FH&E()) 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Qin Fen (Note (ix)) RELAE (HR) 41,032 - - - 41,032
765,968 - - - 765,968
Total b 1,265,968 1,810,810 5,389,465 69,000 8,526,243
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. BEEHM (2)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-_Z2—N\F=A=+—BIFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary and benefits scheme
fee bonus in kind contributions Total
e 2R
ks [lEpE EWMEFN  RNEEIHER @ar
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Lau Woon Si (Chairman) BAEEAE (XF)
(Note (vii) (B e (vii)) - 500,000 1,560,000 - 2,060,000
Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Chief TEBEE (THER)
executive officer) = 400,000 1,495,000 18,000 1,913,000
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony (Note (vi) BT 8% 4 (FiFEVi) - 108,333 1,300,000 18,000 1,426,333
Mr. Cheung Lap Kei (Note (i) R B A (FIE) - 120,000 1,135,418 15,000 1,270,418
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (Note (ii)) RiRE A (W) 130,968 - 70,000 = 200,968
Mr. Chan Kwan (Note (i) bR 8 A (B EE(v)) - - 51,075 1,500 52,575
Mr. Yan Shuai (Note (i) BRBDAEAE (P aE(Y) 51,075 - - = 51,075
182,043 1,128,333 5,611,493 52,500 6,974,369
Independent Non-executive ~ BIFHTEES
Directors
Ms. Wang Qing (Note (vii) TR L (P & (vii)) 420,000 = = = 420,000
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BERELE 240,000 = = = 240,000
Ms. Li Znongye Cindy (Note (v)) ~ ZHE Z+ (MzEVy)) 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (Note () 25 % 4 (B aE()) 106,452 - - - 106,452
910,452 S S = 910,452
Total B 1,092,495 1,128,333 5,611,493 52,500 7,884,821
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, none of RBEE-_T-NFERZTE-N\F=ZA=+—H
the directors has granted share options, in respect of their EFE BEESHESRAASEMEHENR
services to the Group under the share option of the Group. BREASEEERETEERBRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEHM (&)
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no RBEE-_FT—NFE_FT—\F=ZA=+—

emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as AEFE AfSEMERNESINME A

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as REBEMASRENARSE B %A B2 kB

compensation for loss of office. Neither the chief executive BEE - RE8EE_TE—NEFRk_FE—N\F=H

officer nor any of the directors waived any emoluments —t+—HLEFE BETRAHKERNESK

during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. ZEEMME -

Notes: B o

0] Appointed as independent non-executive director of the (i) RE—tF - ARAHEZEAANR BB IENIT
Company on 5 July 2017. -

(i) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 5 January (i R-ZF—\F-HRERBREARFANTES-
2018.

(il Appointed as executive director of the Company on 5 January (il REZZE-N\GF—RARBREZEARRRNTES-
2018.

(iv) Appointed as executive directors of the Company on 13 (iv) R-ZE—NEFZA+=-REZTARNARHITES -
March 2018.

(v) Resigned as independent non-executive director of the (v) RZZE—NFLtANBBREARRRBULIENITES -
Company on 9 July 2018.

(vi) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 31 July (vi) R-FB-—N\FLtA=t—HAREARRNTES"
2018.

(vii) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 7 (vii) REZZ—NFNALHBEEARRMITES-
September 2018.

(vii)  Resigned as independent non-executive director of the wi)  RZB=N\F+Z A+ NBEERRRELIEANT
Company on 19 December 2018. B

(ix) Appointed as independent non-executive director of the (ix) RZFE—N\F+_A+NBEZRETAERABIEIIE
Company on 19 December 2018. HITES-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

10. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, four (2018:

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

10. EEBREHFHMALHMES

RASEELEESFRALH BE(ZF
ME)REFE EMESWERHE -

two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in —N\&F:
note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the HBpATHMESBBEOT :
remaining individuals are as follows:
2019 2018
—B-hAE —E-N\F
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREMEN 1,495,000 4,332,167
Discretionary bonus E’] BIELT - 1,000,000
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI LR 18,000 36,000
1,513,000 5,368,167
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no RBE_Z-—NLFEFTE-N\F=A=+—H

emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and employees) or
other directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

TFEFE - AEEBERRERESTMAL (8
FEEEE ) NEMESTIAME  LUIEA
BEEMASREINARNSE B %A k58
=R I=

The emoluments of the one (2018: three) individuals with —f(ZE-N\F =M &aFMA LB
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: NFATEHE :
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZZT-)N\F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A
Nil — 1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000 - =
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1,000,001 - 1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1,600,001 - 2,000,000 1 3
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final ESEUVIMERRNBE_T—NEF=HAH=1—
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019. No dividend HIEFEZREKRE - T I £ 5 R 50K

has been declared or paid by the Company for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

12. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

12. BREE
(@ BREXEE

ZAN/N Tﬁé SR B B AR E A BB TR T I 8

to equity shareholders of the Company is based on the Bt E -
following:
2019 2018
—FE-hAF ZFT-NF
Loss &8

Loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company

RN B EHBOR (L BB

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic loss per share

(565,228,625) (70,247,482)
RDEE
AESREANERZ
E AR INAE 19 2R 960,000,000 960,000,000

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the
calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was based on (i) the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and (ii)
the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

(b) Diluted loss per share

There were no diluted potential shares in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

BE_Z—NWGFrkZZE—N\F=ZA=+—A801
FE AR EzREEROERELRNEBE TR
BTASEBEFESE: WA EERREMN
B K (i) E @R mEFIaE-

(b) EBREFER

REBEE-_ZE— A FER-_ZE—N\F=A=+—H
EFEE BMEBEHERMD -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEMZERERAR
Annual Report 2018/19 —8—/\ —hFFH

181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

13. ¥ -BELRE

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Furniture Motor
Machinery improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
i HE#E GREREE RE @it

Cost: RA:
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+EMA—H 135,803,458 395,880 1,215,179 12,334,557 149,749,074
Additions NE 675,000 2,555,008 1,283,804 - 4,513,812
Disposals & (19,532,306) - - (369,685) (19,901,991)
At 31 March 2018 RZZE-N$=A=+—H 116,946,152 2,950,888 2,498,983 11,964,872 134,360,895
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—-N\$MA—A 116,946,152 2,950,888 2,498,983 11,964,872 134,360,895
Additions NE 510,000 - 183,196 - 693,196
Disposals HE (7,570,110) - - (7,570,110)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=A=+—H 109,886,042 2,950,888 2,682,179 11,964,872 127,483,981
Accumulated depreciation: 2itHE:
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FMA—H 90,651,956 395,880 939,774 4,693,509 96,681,119
Charge for the year FRIH 13,386,220 383,251 318,465 2,346,715 16,434,651
Written back on disposals 1 B o] (10,949,639) - = (141,713)  (11,091,352)
At 31 March 2018 R-E-NF=ZB=+—H 93,088,537 779,131 1,258,239 6,898,511 102,024,418
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-\FMA—H 93,088,537 779,131 1,258,239 6,898,511 102,024,418
Charge for the year FRYH 6,339,313 511,002 401,466 2,084,477 9,316,258
Written back on disposals HERKER (2,469,607) (2,469,607)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NAF=A=1+—H 96,958,243 1,290,133 1,659,705 8,962,988 108,871,069
Net book value: BHFE:
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\E=A=+—H 23,857,615 2,171,757 1,240,744 5,066,361 32,336,477
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=A=+—H 12,927,799 1,660,755 1,022,474 3,001,884 18,612,912
Assets held under finance leases BRERMEHESENEE
Certain machinery of the Group with an aggregate net 75’;‘ ZE-NF=ZA=1+—HB - XEEEEFE

book value of HK$8,266,667 as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$11,466,667), are accounted for as finance leases
pursuant to sales and leaseback transactions with lease

periods of 36 months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

14. GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM/ 14. B (N EBEFENIRERELE
(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT
WORK
31 March 1 April 31 March
2019 2018 2018
—E-hE ZZE-N\F Z=-N\F
=H=+—H WPE[=5 = F =
(Note (i) (Note (i)
(PR EEG)) (B EE® )
Gross amounts due from customers EWREFEHNIRRE
for contract work HmE

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits& & 4 & #15% AN 1 2 52 %

less recognised losses TR 2 R EE - - 251,219,638
Less: Progress billings received and receivable J& : & 4 Kz 8 U & 5 3% - - (218,976,963
- - 32,242,675
Gross amounts due to customers ENEFEHNIRENE
for contract work b
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits® B 4 & X1 N I E FE R %
less recognised losses MR 2 EREE - - 389,909,472
Less: Progress billings received and receivable Jg : B 4% & & U 3 2 (< 38 - - (414,663,468)
- ~  (24,753,996)

Notes: P 5E -

i) Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, some of the gross (i)
amounts due from/(to) customers for contract work, for which
the Group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional
on achieving certain milestones, were reclassified to “contract
assets” and disclosed in note 17 (see note 2(c)).

(ii) Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, gross amounts (ii)
due from customers for contract work is included in contract
assets and disclosed in note 17 (see note 2(c)).

REXERAB B RS LR F155:1%  HoEK
/(H)%ﬁAﬁI%“*”IEﬁ@%E(W%l;ﬂﬂ 1
FEERE TRERER B ) ENOBEE 64
BE | WK FE17H 5 (RHIFE2(C)) °

RERERB ISR E R FE155: 1% BIKEF
AN IRBEAAECNEETHRWF17HE (R
F$2(0)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

15. RMIBRABIWNIKRE

TRENAEEHBRANFEE -BRIESAM
B AENKROERNSEBK-

Proportion of ownership interest

ERELH
Place of Particulars of Group’s
incorporation issue and effective Held by the Held by  Principal
Name of company and business paid up capital interest  Company subsidiary  activity
T R BRTR PN | HEAR
AR ER B BRRAFE BERER XORES BE EEE
Hong Kong Wan Wai BVI Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited US$10,000
ERRRERAR EBRAEE  TREKRI0000%ET REER
Chung Shun Boring Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Ground investigation services
Company Limited HK$4,700,000
(2018: HK$700,000)
REBERTIEERAT B L k4,700,000 7T + 3t 80 B AR 7
(Z2-N\%F:
700,000/ 7))
Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Construction site foundation
Company Limited HK$10,000,000 engineering and bore pile pre-driling
works
RETNIRERAR N LTk BEuwEnATRREIETER
10,000,000/ 7T RERTR
Wan Kei Machinery Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% - 100%  Machinery leasing
LEBHBER AR B EER100/8 T WREE
Wan Kei (Macau) Civil And Foundation Macau 2 shares of MOP 14,000 100% = 100%  Construction site foundation
Construction Company Limited* engineering and bore pile pre-driling
works
BE CRM ) HERE Al 2R R % 14,0007 BEMBWETERELETERR
IRERAA" FERIRE
Ultimate Proud Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
EHBERRAA XBRAHE  TBRRIERT REER
Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Money lending
HK$1,000,000
EE (F8)BRAA B i #k1,000,00078 7T fE&
Infinite Time Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
KEERER AR EBEAHEE  TBRRIERT REZR
Sino Topper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% = 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$20,000,000
RAKERERAA & LER EENGTE
20,000,000 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. AMIBARMNKRE (&)
(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
EERELA

Place of Particulars of Group’s

incorporation issue and effective Held by the Held by  Principal
Name of company and business paid up capital interest Company subsidiary  activity

MR LK BRTR A5E HEAR
AEER ES 3k BRRAFE EREE AQFIKE s IEEE
Prestige Victory Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
B YN XBRAHE  TBRRIET REZR
Topper Summit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Not yet commence business

HK$5,000,000
BEFRAT & 4 %5,000,0007 7T RNl
Delight Vision Global Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
HRIRIRER AT EBELHEE  TERIET REZK
Shiny Wiser Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000

HBERRAA & E3RMR5,000,0008 7T EENGEE
Elegant Top Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
HEERER R XERREE  LTERIER REZK
Success Mount Investments Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% = 100%  Not yet commence business
HEREBRAF EBRAHE  TBRRIET EENGEE
Advance Trade Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEEREBR AR EEELHEE  TERER REZR
Regal Victor International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% = 100%  Not yet commence business
FEEARERAT & LBR100%8 T EENGESE
G Company not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited * CRESTMEBAMERAR ([HEF])BZHA

(“HLB”). The financial statements of the subsidiary not audited
by HLB reflect total net assets and total revenue constituting
approximately 0.01% and nil respectively of the related
consolidated totals.

Al REBEBEERNN B AR B RE KRR EEF
BERERRARED FIMEHEE S 0 2R £0.01%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 16. BEATEFABRNESREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
—E-hE ZZT-N\F
Listed equity securities at FVPL (note 27(f)) BEAFEFABEN LT
—in Hong Kong A& S (MisE27()
—REB 1,968,000 -
Unlisted fund investment at FVPL (note 27(f) BEAFEFABENIEET
— outside Hong Kong BB (M5e7())
—BBEI 39,765,096 -
41,733,096 -
17. CONTRACT ASSETS 17. EHEE
31 March 1 April 31 March
2019 2018 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F ZT-N\F
ZA=+-8B WA-B =A=+-A
(Note (i) (Note (i)
(PHEEG)) (PREEG))
Avrising from performance under BRIBERESH
construction contracts, net of loss BHMES IKRE
allowance (Notes (i), (i), (iv)) 1BREE (MIEEG) - i) (v) 54,862,100 42,119,619 -
Avrising from performance under R AR + 3t 8 R AR 75
ground investigation services, BAIFRESE - HIBRE
net of loss allowance (Notes (i), (i), (iv)) BB (BEEEG) -~ (i) v) 13,526,339 7,896,674 =
68,388,439 50,016,293 -

Notes:

(i)

(i)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15
using the cumulative effect method and adjusted the opening
balances as at 1 April 2018.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9, opening adjustments
were made as at 1 April 2018 to recognise additional
expected credit losses (‘ECLs”) on contract assets. This has
resulted in a decrease in this balance as at that date (see note

2(c)(i)-

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, approximately
HK$44,195,000 of the retention receivables, for which the
Group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on
achieving certain milestones or satisfactory completion of the
retention period, were reclassified from “retention receivables”
under “trade and other receivables” to contract assets (see
note 2(c). As at 31 March 2019, the amount of retention
receivables approximately HK$34,147,000.
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AEBEGERRATEENSEMTBHBIRE LR
FORRBEFBREERNEISRLHER TN
FMA—BHOEELR-

REREREBVHHREENFIRE R_F—N
FOA-B RENEERIBNBINEREEER
(MEHEEERCIELHMAR - LR EHZA
B R A SRR D (RKTEE20)0))

RERERETEH B REENFIGHKR - 4
44,195,000 T FER B © (A KB H R EER
JRERE T RIS BT R B B T AT RESZ ) B
(85 REMEYRIE] T [REGRES | SMOE
EANEE (RIE20) - RZFE-NF=A=+—
B ERRE SNSRI S34,147,000/8 7T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continuead)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, amounts previously
included as “gross amount due from customers for contract
work” and “gross amounts due to customers for contract
work” under “gross amounts due from/(to) customers for
contract work” (note 14) were reclassified to contract assets
(see note 2(c)).

(v) Except for the amounts HK$21,126,678 and HK$5,930,823
for construction contracts and ground investigation services
as at 31 March 2019 respectively, which are expected to be
recovered after one year, all of the remaining balances are
expected to be recovered within one year.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract assets recognised are as follows:

The Group’s construction contracts and ground
investigation service contracts which require stage
payments over the construction/service period once
milestones are reached as application submitted to the
customers/certificate issued by the customer.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s construction contracts
and ground investigation service contracts typically
have an agreed retention period of one year for 5%-
10% of the contract value, which amount is included in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as
the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional
on the Group’s construction work satisfactorily passing
inspection.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. EHEBE (&)
s (48)

(iv) B R E B S B T RS R 155818 - R RTET A
[l (MMEFEHIRNERE] (MiE14)T
(R EFANIRIBLE R[ENEEAHT
RABLEEINCEET I BEEANEE (R
2(c)) °

(v) BR-ZZE—NF=ZA=+—HEBESH1521,126,678
78 7T 125,930,8237 T M) R 3 A& #) K b BRI AR 75 A1
(BN —FRER) AR TAEERBHER—F
A [E] g

HERAEGHNEESEBRTZEN —RIMTK
E/Q UNINE

AEBNREARHARTHBRAREEDOEK
—BERER (AEFPRXBHF/EFPBELER
&) CARERREPEDERMNK-

RZFE-NF=ZA=1t—H A&EREOE
B5%-10% 2 & & 4 R BRI RS & Q15
ENREH-—RAE—F ZBENREBPER
At AGHEE RAR/AEBEERF I &ZER
TR EYRE M P AR S B T A2 IR A 58 AR A BRI 12 75 AT AF

=

=

18. EZ N HMEWFIE

31 March 1 April 31 March

2019 2018 2018

—E-hFE -—Z-N\&E —T—)\#F

=A=+—-8H MA—B =A=+—H

(Note (i) (Note (i)

(BI&Eq)) (B3E(q))

Trade debtors, net of loss allowance FEUBR K - HBR BB R 1 17,681,106 9,524,634 9,835,763
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables, &4 ~ Tt 7018 K H b
net of loss FEU FRIE - HBR S B

allowance (Note (i) R (B ak i) 11,395,770 9,484,145 9,551,259

Retention receivables (Note (ii)) FEUR B & (M &%) - — 44,194,783

Financial assets measured at HE#EHN G2/
amortised cost CRIEE 29,076,876 19,008,779 63,581,805
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

18.

Notes:

(i)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9, an opening
adjustment as at 1 April 2018 was made to recognise
additional ECLs on trade and other receivables (see note
2(c)()-

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 15, some of the
retention receivables, for which the Group’s entitlement to the
consideration was conditional on achieving certain milestones,
were reclassified to “contract assets” and disclosed in note 17
(see note 2(c)).

Except for the amounts of HK$1,234,596 and HK$1,236,982
as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 respectively, which are
expected to be recovered after one year, all of the remaining
balances are expected to be recovered within one year.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the date of progress certificates
issued by customers and net of allowance, is as follows:

18. EZLEMEWFEIE (&)

0} REREREEVBRELNFSRE RN
FOA—B -85 RHEMREKKIAER S REINR
HESBESFELBTNRERE (RIE20)))

(i) REREAEBIMEHREELF155%%E B EIK
RES (FEBEHRENEFNEERE TEREE
FRAIM)EF B [GNEE] WHRFHI7THE
(RMsE2(c)) »

(iii RZZE-—NEFEER=ZZE—N\F=ZA=+—8" 55k
1,234,506 7T K 1,236,982/ 7T 78 B i — £ 14 U [a]
SN P AR EEBRN —F Rk E -

RRR 2 AT

RBEYR EREPELNEEITEAHLR
MEBRBER BEER (GTAE S MHEMER
IR ) W ERE DT T

2019 2018

“EB-hE —ZE-N\F

Within 1 month —f@AR 11,122,267 4,895,493
1 to 2 months — =M E A 794,298 899,689
2 to 3 months M2 = i A 330,000 414,610
Over 3 months =EAMNE 5,434,541 3,625,971
17,681,106 9,835,763

Trade debtors are normally due within 30 to 45 days from
the payment application date or 30 to 60 days from the
certificate date. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
are set out in note 27(a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

19. LOAN RECEIVABLE

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

19. EBRER

2019 2018

—E-AFE ZZ—N\F

Fixed-rate loan receivable, net of allowance BEEMEREUWES  HOkEHE 7,985,672 =
Analysed as: R v=%

Current portion BN ER &R 7> 7,985,672 —
Analysed as: N v=%

Unsecured A 4R 7,985,672 —

At 31 March 2019, the interest rate and maturity date
attributed to the Group’s loan receivable was 10% (2018:
nil) per annum and in May 2019 (2018: nil) respectively.

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses
internal credit assessment process to assess the potential
borrower’s credit quality and defines the credit limits
granted to the borrowers. The credit limits attributed to the
borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

At 31 March 2019, the directors of the Group are of the
view that there has been no significant increase in credit
risk nor default risk of the loan receivable since its initial
recognition.

The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate loan receivable to
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are
as follows:

N—%—

NE=ZA=1t—B AEEEKER
Ziﬂfﬁno%(f;—ﬂi &) FHAR
—NEFERA(ZZE-NF:E)-

RESNEA LR ERA ﬁ‘%@%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ*lﬂ*
EmgY FHEBEEEEAZEREER
RAEMBEEARKMZEERE-BEAZ :ff
HMEHEEETHERN-

RZE—NF=ZA=Z=+—"H XEBE=EZER
B BVRERERKERAR BRERZ
EERRREANRBIY MEAREN-

R B 2 [B] TE A K e WS TP M s 2 A R A
REANIHMBEMT :

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—N\F

Fixed-rate loan receivable, net of allowance B E A R U E K kR B R
— Within one year ——%NR 7,985,672 -

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 27(a).

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

B T H R B R M RE27 (a) o

20. RERBRESEEY
(a) BLRESZEYEE:

2019 2018
—E-hE ZT—)N\F
Cash at banks and in hand THEFEFERE 337,512,371 415,136,973
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20.
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b)

used in operations:

—NWF=A=1+—RILFE (AETFE)

RERBEEEY (&)

BREAEAEEESEARSNHIR:

Notes 2019 2018
e Z—TB—hE —N\&F
Operating activities RETR
Loss before taxation bR T Bl 5 18 (56,988,999) (70,336,139)
Adjustments for: BT E IR
Interest on borrowing from FE—REEEATY
a related company BEZHE 7(a) 2,812,500 4,500,000
Interest on borrowing from RE—EBAESFZ
a former director BEZFE 7(a) 1,840,695 2,096,156
Interest on bank overdraft RITE i A2 7(a) 405 56,964
Finance charges on obligations BE TR BRI B B
under finance leases 7(a) 313,963 478,980
Depreciation e 7(c) 9,316,258 16,434,651
Bank interest income IRTTHBULA 5 (2,736,282)  (2,018,866)
Fair value change on financial assets BATETABRD
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEENRAFEES 6 551,464 =
Impairment loss on club memberships FHRBEEE 7(c) 110,000 =
Impairment losses on trade and féf % N H b & R IE
other receivables, contract assets BHEBEER
and loan receivable P‘EE H&Z ERREEE 7(c) 291,050 =
Amortisation of deferred income T A N 5 6 (1,126,283)  (1,126,283)
Gain on disposal of property, HE VER N Bz
plant and equipment L| = 6 (1,181,497) (3,013,361)
Recognise/(reversal) of long service {7 / B RER% e
payment liabilities (& 25,426 (172,928)
Changes in working capital: LEESEH:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 K H M fE UK
other receivables (&), m b (10,166,591) 21,096,345
Increase in loan receivable E‘? 51 B (8,066,667) =
Increase in contract assets A H B EE N (18,423,193) =
Increase in financial assets BATEFABZS
at fair value through profit or loss SRVE EE NN (42,284,560) =
Decrease in gross amounts due from JEWE P& 8 TR KT
customers for contract work PR - 14,130,397
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 & E A FRIEE i,
other payables CRA) 7,869,666  (22,288,101)
Increase in gross amounts due to BN EPE& X ITERT
customers for contract work 4EEEIE N - 1,817,274
Increase in provision for onerous contract B 1 Hofa 5 8 - 14,637
Cash used in operations BEFTARS (117,842,645) (38,330,274)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 Mizdk: AEEER-_ZT—/\FHUA-—RBEREATENE

at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen,

comparative information is not restated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

20.
(Continued)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows

20.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

RERREEEY (&)

(c) RMEFHELEZREHEK

TRHFLUAEERELRZDELZABEED &

ERSRIRLH
ERABRAEESEAH

T HMERDELACZABR
i/}ILE%W/\*E/EﬁK‘ﬂ

ﬁ/ﬁ@]?izfﬁi/mgjixfﬁi/)lb%ﬂ’],@\

will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow & o
statement as cash flows from financing activities.
Obligations Amount
under due to Amount due
finance aformer to arelated
leases director company Total
Ef—2 B —E
mh & AESE BEAT
HERE ME E Q| st
At 1 April 2018 R=-ZE-NEWMA—H 8,687,991 55,264,637 96,787,500 160,740,128
Changes from financing MEFRSRERE:
cash flows:
Capital element of finance leases ENREHEHENER
rentals paid (5,406,613) - - (5,406,613
Interest element of finance leases ~ BN BER SR HFE
rentals paid (313,963) - - (313,963)
Proceeds from borrowing RE—GAESEE
from a former director FT{S 3R - 38,300,000 - 38,300,000
Total changes from financing BERERELIEE
cash flows (5,720,576) 38,300,000 - 32,579,424
Other changes: Hitb 25
Finance charges on obligations BEMERELVBER
under finance leases 313,963 - - 313,963
Interest on borrowing from a former  RE —RAEZE ZEE
director FE = 1,840,695 - 1,840,695
Interest on borrowing from RE—BBAERRZ
a related company HEZHE - - 2,812,500 2,812,500
Total other changes Hin S 8B 5E 313,963 1,840,695 2,812,500 4,967,158
At 31 March 2019 R-ZZEB-HhEFE=ZR=1— 3,281,378 95,405,332 99,600,000 198,286,710
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continueq)

20. BERBELEEY (&)

() ®METBELEZABYHIKR(E)

Obligations Amount
under due to  Amount due
finance a former to a related
leases director company Total
JEff — A
BME et —% HE DA
MERE RIESENE ;A fst
At 1 April 2017 R-T—+FMA—H 13,880,938 18,168,481 92,287,500 124,345,919
Changes from financing MEREREZE:
cash flows:
Capital element of finance leases ENRERERENER
rentals paid (5,201,947) - - (5,201,947)
Interest element of finance leases ~ B BEHER KT S
rentals paid (478,980) - - (478,980)
Proceeds from borrowing RE—GBAESEE
from a former director FT{S 5/ 38 - 35,000,000 - 35,000,000
Total changes from financing RERERELHET
cash flows (5,680,927) 35,000,000 - 29,319,073
Other changes: Hith 28
Finance charges on obligations MEMEAEZHBER
under finance leases 478,980 - - 478,980
Interest on borrowing from a former  RE —ZAIEEZ
director EEZME - 2,096,156 - 2,096,156
Interest on borrowing from RE—HEBEARZ
a related company BEZHE - - 4,500,000 4,500,000
Total other changes Hin2e)@m 478980 2,096,156 4,500,000 7,075,136
At 31 March 2018 RZBE-—N\F=ZR=+—H 8,687,991 55,264,637 96,787,500 160,740,128
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

21. BEFREMESRE

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—N\F
Trade payables B 5 ETER 21,428,389 16,201,723
Retention payables (Note (ii)) FERREB & (BEE()) 3,756,355 3,014,113
Other payables and accruals EpESRIE N ERTE A 7,706,960 5,806,202
32,891,704 25,022,038

Notes: iE=s

(i) Save as disclosed in note 21(i) below, all trade and other
payables are expected to be settled within one year.

(ii) Except for the amounts of HK$1,257,031 and HK$1,036,494
as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 respectively, all of the
remaining balances are expected to be settled within one
year.

(iii) As of the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of trade

(i) BT XXM EE21 ()R RSN - FTE B 5 R E MR IR
BN —FRERN-

(i) el )i —NFR_ZE-NF=A=+—HH

1,257, OS‘I/%SE)SU ,036,4948 Lo - BT/ sREETE H
R—FRER-

(ii) RBEHR ENBEZBHNE ZHEMNEIRRD

payables based on the invoice date is as follows: AT
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
Within 1 month —f@AR 7,752,539 7,444,961
1 to 2 months —E=mEA 9,876,642 6,081,361
2 to 3 months M & = & A 2,140,305 208,620
Over 3 months =EAME 1,658,903 2,466,781
21,428,389 16,201,723

22. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED
COMPANY/A FORMER DIRECTOR

The amount due to a related company, Bright Dynasty
Trading Limited (“Bright Dynasty”), a related company
which 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Fong Hon Hung
(“Mr. Fong”), was unsecured, bearing interest rate at
2.5%-5% (2018: 5%) per annum and repayable on
demand. Mr. Fong who is the executive director, chairman
and chief executive officer of the Group is also the director
of Bright Dynasty.

Except for the amount of HK$25,300,000, the other
amount due to a former director, Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr.
Lau”), was unsecured, bearing interest rate at 2.5%-5%
(2018: 5%) per annum and repayable on demand.

2. EN-—BBAEAR/ —BAESHE

& 1 — & B3 i & &) Bright Dynasty Trading
Limited ([Bright Dynasty |) (—ffH 75 &
BEE([ARE]) 2EERBEECAERR])
REBEER EFBE25%5%(=ZF— N
F 5% )T ERARERKBEE-HFEERK
SEANITESF  £F RITHAE 5 ABright
DynastyZ E o

Br % 025,300,000/ 7T 2 BRIBSN - B — & Al

ExfnsraE (8% ) 2 EMRIEEE

Tfﬁ#ﬁ BEB2.5%- %(_7’*)\¢-5%)uf
NEBRERKEE-
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

23. DEFERRED INCOME 23. EZEW A
2019 2018
—2-nF Z—T)\F
At 1 April RMHA—H 1,783,282 2,909,565
Credited to profit or loss FFAESR (1,126,283)  (1,126,283)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 656,999 1,783,282
Less: current portion of deferred income B IREW AR BNEREE 5 (656,999)  (1,126,283)
- 656,999

Deferred income mainly represents deferred differences
arising from the sales and leaseback arrangement resulting

in finance leases, which would be recognised as income on HMEBAREREERRBEA -
a straight-line basis over the lease periods of 36 months.

24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE

24, BEHEEAE

EERATERREELRELRENERDME
RHNRETEEZRE  ARELERAKRNI6GEA D

LEASES
2019 2018
ZE-hE —E-N\F
Present Present

value of the Total value of the Total

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

REKHEE REKHEE =EHEE =EHEE

RIRHEE TREE SHrRE E ¢t

Within 1 year —FR 3,281,378 3,336,919 5,416,903 5,697,216
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMENA - - 3,271,088 3,320,861
After 2 years but within 5 years WEBRBERAER - - = =
- - 3,271,088 3,320,861

3,281,378 3,336,919 8,687,991 9,018,077
Less: total future interest expenses I : K A B 48 %8 (55,541) (330,086)
Present value of lease obligations T E&IERIE(E 3,281,378 8,687,991
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e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

25. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS

(a) Movement in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing

balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes

25. EERAKEF

AEBRE (BRRBIMERRS S KH) B
% <<i5>‘%f%fﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁﬂ>> EENXER

58 1 1%

T8 ([REEFTE]) -

= an

B3 —1H

iR &5t

@JZ%—IEEhéﬁ_LiD%/\ B ¥ /) T B FOR IRET
g-RigwiEEE -

&t 81 4 3K Bl B

2. BX RERKRE

(@) EREAKEE

AR B4R A 1 R % AR K AT
Z R RN 4R S

>
7|

|:|

BEIRHERESAZRE
BEHBRANSKAGFEIHK  FAK
WA /30,000 T °

= 15 B

BB -

7 B ER ) B B R 4 R

HEFHR - ARAFA
RERZEBRDEKTONEBHFBHRN T

in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s X o
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below.
Company NS 7|
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Capital Special Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
(RitE8)/
RRE BEAfE YRl REBF @5t
Balance at 1 April 2017 RZE—tFMA-Bz&®H 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 79,126,670 443,879,703
Changes in equity for 2018: —E-N\FRz2H:
Total comprehensive income FREAENEES
for the year - - - (131,245261)  (131,245,261)
Balance at 31 March 2018 R-E-NF=A=t+-H
ke 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (52,118,591) 312,634,442
Impact on initial application of BRERBENBEIREER
HKFRS 9 FORMTE - - - (1,783) (1,783)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 R=Z—\FMA—AM
AR 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (62,120,374) 312,632,659
Changes in equity for 2019: “E-hFREREE.
Total comprehensive income FREAENEESR
for the year - - - (6,580,939 (6,580,939)
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZB-RE=A=+—-8
i 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (58,701,313) 306,051,720
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continuead)

(b) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between the
equity of Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited acquired
pursuant to the Reorganisation on 9 May 2015 over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore.

26. BEX -FBERBRE (&)

(b) B

FRlEEEREN —_E-—RAFAANBZEHA
FBEEELRZBERARZEREARRAER
RBMABETRODCEBEZIER

(c)  Share capital () B’
Number of
ordinary Nominal
shares amount
EEREE E{E
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each authorised: BEREEOIBIZEEEER:
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and RZE—-+tFWA—AR-
31 March 2019 “E2-N\E=A=+-H"
“E-\EmB-HR
—E-hE=ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ERITRBEEER:
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R=—B—+EmA-8-
31 March 2019 “E2-N\E=B=+-H"
“E-\E@A-HEK
—E-hE=ZA=+—H 960,000,000 9,600,000

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.
No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continuea)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(iii)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution from its shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was approximately HK$162,326,000 (2018:
approximately HK$168,908,000).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to fund its business, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

26. EX -FBERBRE (&)

(d REIHEREH(E)
(i) EvRE

EHHEREREAR BBIRARRKNE 2 A KR

AMBAARBBETRN cEELEZZERAEE
ZER-
(i) BEXHE

BARBREEARANRBE_ZFT-RF=A
=St HLEEFEREENMNETRAXEEAN
KEEBRRFEBHMNERAR FERKRAERA
ACRXBELERBIBRLINBIEILIE

(e) T KFEE

—hWhE=A=+—H A2 FTAA
Tﬁg\ IR B A L A 4162,326,000/8 7T
(ZZ— )\F :4168,908,000/& T ) °

n EBEFXEHE

$El S HEEANIZERARELAKERE
REMBEN UAEEBRHEES RERE
ﬁi\@#&&ﬁjﬁm%f ERUMNGE YR RE
BARBUARMIDES KA -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEMZERERAR
Annual Report 2018/19 —8—/\ —hFFH

197



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continueqd)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
gross amounts due to customers for contract work, trade
and other payables, amount due to a related company,
amount due to a former director, obligations under finance
leases and long services payment liabilities) less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity.

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 March

26. BEX -FBERBRE (&)

n EFXEEE)

AEEBERY EHRIREEEEARE N
ERSEEKF A EH KRR SR E &K ER
BEAKRFAFROEE RREZHREF
B YEAEKSEARANEBEEHEARARBELH
B o

AEBREHEERFREEAL R SEEE
BEHEAGER M E  ARERELHAERE
BREEAREGAR (BERENEPANIRER
BHEB BESNEMEMNE BN —HEE
ARAFE BN —ZAMESFHE BEHRE A
ErRERERBEAB)RASLASEFEY-
RBABREARNBREMAERDAKED -

2019 and 2018 are as follows: SEELHABRERFHEAEA L RN T :
2019 2018
“E-NAE ZZE-N\F
Total debts B 458 231,588,245 210,900,567
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BRERREEEY (337,512,371) (415,136,973
Adjusted net debt KRG TR N/ATEH N/AZ 3
Total equity R 268,280,500 325,027,403
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FRREE AL &K N/ATE A N/AZN 3

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions
with sound credit ratings. Given their high credit ratings,
management does not expect any of these financial
institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their
obligations.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and loan receivable

For loan receivable, the Group’s management manages
and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and
existing customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews
from time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all other instruments including other receivables and
loan receivable, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition. The Group has assessed
and concluded that the risk of default rate for the other
instruments are steadily based on the Group’s assessment
of the financial health of the counterparties.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 23% (2018:
3%) and 51% (2018: 3%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the foundation construction
segment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days
from the payment application date or 30 to 60 days
from the certificate date. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from construction contract and ground
investigation services customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

(@ EERR(Z)
ESEKZERENEE (&)

FBEERBRAE TSR EEZCERHYSET
BREEFH ZETHEIRZFBAERE
HERZERRBEEZEREN TEEZR
FZEBTEHUARBEPRPKEME ZEERE -
JEUBR XA S FR R 55 B BA B 5T 30E 458 s i
EHEEZHHEA30ZE60HNEIH - KEE —K
WERBEESH R TEBREEF IEE

-]
R °

AEERAERNERREREREFE Z2HEH
EEBENERETEESIRUFEARAGNEE
MEBERGE ARAKEENBEEEBBELR
TEANFREFOBBREAEREAEZR
REAHREAENEERBELERNAEE L
REFPEMZEAE—FED -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEMZERERAR
Annual Report 2018/19 —8—/\ —hFFH

201



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivable as at 31
March 2019:

27. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(#%&)

(@ EERR (&)

TRREHREFAAEER _ZE-—NF=ZRA=1—
EREZREMERTRE ENEEREBKRE
RAHEEZEERRLREREEERZEHR

Expected Gross Net
credit carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

EHEE
EiE=x HWEREE EiERE RREFE

Trade receivables and contract assets B 5 JEW B A L& E

Current (not past due) e (REH) 0.39% 72,428,820 285,407 72,143,413
1-30 days past due #EI1Z=30H 0.36% 8,522,200 30,609 8,491,591
31-60 days past due #IHI31Z=60H - - - -
61-90 days past due #HB1290H - 17,300 - 17,300
More than 90 days past due 1 HA R @O0 H 6.82% 5,813,510 396,269 5,417,241
86,781,830 712,285 86,069,545
Other receivables Hofth & K18 0.71% 11,477,284 81,514 11,395,770
Loan receivable M E 5K 1.00% 8,066,667 80,995 7,985,672
19,543,951 162,509 19,381,442
106,325,781 874,794 105,450,987

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Comparative information under HKAS 39

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised
only when there was objective evidence of impairment (see
note 2())(i) — policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018). At 31
March 2018, no trade receivables were determined to be
impaired. The aging analysis of trade debtors that were not
considered to be impaired was as follows:

e PR wRRME
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27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

(@ FERRE (&)
EBETEREI9HE T B BREH

RZE—NFWNA—HBA BREBBEEHE
BEZEBERZ (AME2(0))—R_ZE—N\F
WMA—HRBRZBER )BT 2ER- R _Z
—NEZA=Z+—"8 HEZSEKRBERE
EARE- R AW E IR RE N EKERZD
BREE DT -

2018

—N\&F

Neither past due nor impaired BL R 8 B TR R R (B 3,147,207
Less than 1 month past due wmEAR DR —1E A 2,629,804
1 to 3 months past due wmEH—EAZE=[EA 18,171
Over 3 months past due wH=E AN E 4,040,581
9,835,763

Receivables which were neither past due nor impaired
related to a wide range of customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables which were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Comparative information under HKAS 39 (Continued)
The other classes within trade and other receivables do
not contain impaired assets. The Group does not hold any

collateral over this balance.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

27. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(#%&)

(@ FERAR (&)

BB R FI9H BT HILLBEH (&)

B o5 hEMEUKIARNEMBER L ESIED
BB E o A& B B % A R B T

oA °

FRNERES NEMENRKE GREERE

trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan WERNEBBERESHNT :
receivable during the year is as follows:
Trade Other Contract Loan
receivables receivables assets receivable Total
ESEWFTE HtEWRRE EREE ERER @t
Balance at 31 March 2018 REFBGERER
under HKAS 39 RZE-N\F=A=+—H
B8 \ - } . ) .
Impact on initial application of B X ERE B REER
HKFRS 9 (note 2(c)(i) FoRmE 2 (Ma2e)) 311,129 67,114 205,501 = 583,744
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 R=Z— \FELA—HH
TRRER 311,129 67,114 205,501 2 583,744
Impairment loss recognised FRERARNEBE
during the year 144,608 14,400 51,047 80,995 291,050
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZE-NFE=A=1+—H
iope3s 455,737 81,514 256,548 80,995 874,794

(b)  Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at 31 March 2019 and 2018) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:

27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

(b) REBELRAM(£Z)

TRFAJIAGENEBAEER T — hi&:
E-N\F=ZA=T—"HBHNHRTAENINHAE
IR ES Uﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé(ﬁﬁﬁ %
ME(UNBZE AIRBR-_ZF-—AFLE=-F
—NEFE=ZA=1+—B®NHFNX)FENHFE
M) RAKERARERNFANZEARAM S
i) ¢

At 31 March 2019
RZE-AE=A=1+-H

Total Within  More than  More than
contractual 1year 1yearbut 2 yearsbut
Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than  More than
amount  cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
GLEY: T
Heme —ERR —FHE MENL
B E B EEX ERER BEREER EFNE
Trade and other payables ~ B SR EMEFHIE 82,891,704 32,891,704 31,634,673 1,257,031 - -
Amount due to a R —REAR]
related company R 99,600,000 99,787,500 99,787,500 - - -

Amount due to a former BN —ZAEEHE

director 95,405,332 95,542,832 95,542,832 - - -

Obligations under finance ~ BE & E&IE
leases 3,281,378

3,336,919 3,336,919 - = -

231,178,414 231,558,955 230,301,924 1,257,031 = =
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

27. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(#%&)

(b) RBESERE (&

At 31 March 2018
RZE-NF=A=1+—H

Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1 yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BRARER
Beng —FRHK —FNE ME L+
REE k) EEX EMEFA BRFA  RFENE
Trade and other payables ~ ESREMBEMZIE 25,022,038 25,022,038 23,985,544 1,036,494 = =
Amount due to a R —HEEL R
related company B 96,787,600 97,162,500 97,162,500 - - -
Amount due to ER—RAESEHIE
a former director 55,264,637 55,485,470 55,485,470 - - -

Obligations under finance Bt & A E&IE
leases 8,687,991

ik

9018077 5,697,216 3,320,861 = =

185,762,166 186,688,085 182,330,730 4,357,355 = =

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
obligations under finance lease, which issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of
fixed and variable rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risks. During the year ended 31 March 2019,
however, the management of the Group did not consider
it necessary to use interest rate swaps to hedge their
exposure to interest risk. At 31 March 2018, the Group did
not hold any assets and liabilities which are exposed to
significant interest risk.

The following table details the profile of the Group’s net
borrowings (interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing financial assets) at the end of the reporting period.
The interest rate and maturity information of the Group’s
borrowings are disclosed in notes 22 and 24.
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NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

() FIERAR (&)

AEBEEHENMERETENEEEEES
MEEEHTHMWWﬁF@i_q JUE
“A=t-"BLFEE AEEEEER/HBA
ERAMEEHHPMNERR - R_F—-N\F=
A=t —B A5REREFETAAZEKXT
Xz BEERAE

TRHFVNAEERBREHANEEFEE (A5
EcRBBEREFEEREE )R -BEASE
BEENFELEBEENEERHF22424 o

2019 2018
“E-hE —E—N\F

Fixed rate borrowings:

EEBE:

Amount due to a related company FE —E B E R R IR 99,600,000 96,787,500
Amount due to a former director [ — B BT ERIA 95,405,332 55,264,637
195,005,332 152,052,137

Variable rate borrowings:
Obligations under finance leases m@ éf f 7¥< b 3,281,378 8,687,991
3,281,378 8,687,991
198,286,710 160,740,128
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 March 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis point in interest rates with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s loss after tax and the total equity by
approximately HK$27,000 (2018: HK$73,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at the end of the reporting period.

The estimated 100 basis points increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual end of the reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis is performed on the same basis for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

(d) Foreign currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency

risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments and fund investment. Other than
fund investment held for strategic purposes, the equity
investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Decisions to buy or
sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of
the performance of individual securities compared to that
of the relevant stock market index and other industry
indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

The Group’s fund investment is held for strategic
purposes. The performance is assessed periodically
against performance of similar listed entities, based on the
limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.

At 31 March 2019, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 5% (2018: 5%) in the relevant stock
market index as applicable, with all other variables held
constant, would have increased/decreased approximately
HK$82,000 (2018: nil) of the Group’s loss after tax and
retained profits.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax and retained profits that would
arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and
that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2019 and 2018.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

() KAERER

AEBEEEBEREBRARERESRE ZIRAE
REFRAR BRFEFRBENZIESKREIN
RARER ETHIRARE -

REBZ TTRENRBEBBERGMARA
FH-R5BHFEEHERBERE %%ﬁmﬁ
HERMESREMITEREEUARAESE 2R
HESFRMELEERE -

AEBEZESRENFERBAMN - RADE
RASEAGzEREMHLRABALETER
RIDAETTE MG 3 AT A E KR B SRR AT
g 2 HRAE -

R_TE—NAEZA=+—8 " At HBEKRTIE
HF(WMBERA) LA (TEK)S% (ZZT—N\&F:
5%)MAABEMEBEETE  REB 2 BRHEEES
E&%mﬁﬂ%EM/m >#782,000 7T (=
T )\F E)-o

@:r ﬁ@m$§IZ@ﬁé%E&%mE

EIﬁWﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%EMﬁ%%i%i&E
RANREFFEAEERRERRAFT AL
EEERAERERZEEMT A - RAKRK
BRAKEBBRAKREZAFERSRERBK
WE%YHQHAQEZﬂEH@EWMQ’
—E-NAFE-F
—)\i?;zifﬁﬂﬁfﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27.

U]

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continueq)

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy
the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at 31

March 2019 and 2018:

27. 2REREERERMIAENAFE
(%)

H 2DFPEREE)
BAFHEHITEZLZHBEERER (&)
TREAR-_F-NALEFER_FT-AF=H

S+—B EHATEHEZAEENSMIA
ERTEERTHHT:

At 31 March 2019 R-E—NF=F=+—H
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
E— B B=4 4 Lt R
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BRFEGAER S
through profit or loss: PHEE
Listed equity securities FIBRARES 1,968,000 - - 1,968,000
Unlisted fund investment FEMESKRE - 39,765,096 - 39,765,096
Total assets at fair value RAFEFTABHEZ
through profit or loss HMEE 1,968,000 39,765,096 - 41,733,096
At 31 March 2018 RZF-—NF=ZA=1+—H
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
E— B E= FEEe S
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BRFEGA Bz
through profit or loss: PHEE
Listed equity security FRAES - - _ _
Unlisted fund investment FLETMEEERE - - - -
Total assets at fair value BRAFEFAERZ
through profit or loss BEE - - - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continueq)

Investments whose values are based on quoted market
prices in active markets, and are therefore classified within
Level 1, include active listed equities. The Group does not
adjust the quoted price for these instruments.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of unlisted fund investment in Level 2 is
estimated using a valuation technique based on the net
asset value approach, which takes into consideration
the fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities of the
unlisted fund investment as at 31 March 2019.

There are no financial assets classified under Level 3 and
there has not been any transfers between levels during the
year.
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e ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &% NE=ZA=+—HILFE (LETHE)

28. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31
March 2019 and 2018 not provided for in the

28. &iE

(@ KRAZE-—NERZZ-—N\FE=HA=+—H
HiRE B RRBENREZRERRIEN

consolidated financial statements were as F:
follows:
2019 2018
—B-NE —T)N\F
Contracted for EHES 215,000 =

(b) At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s total
future minimum lease payments under non-

b) R-B-NAFR-F-NF=ZA=t-—8"
ZF%*EEZ:_HE&%%&“?HE?E?EENE’J%

cancellable operating leases are payable as EEEFRAENT:
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE —ZE—N\F
Within 1 year —E R 5,746,700 6,291,000
After 1 year but within 5 years —FBRERAFERN 290,000 5,243,500

6,036,700 11,634,500

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties under operating leases. The leases typically run
an initial period range from two to five years, with an option
to renew when all terms are renegotiated. None of these
leases includes contingent rentals.

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
related parties that had transactions with the
Group were as follows:

AEBRAREHETETYENABEA -ZF
HEMNNKRERBEETRMELF LAEES
WOERBMEGRREEFRETER RFHE
MESRAREE -

20, ERBEIRS

(@ REBE-ZFZ-IF=ZA=t+-—-BLHF
E - BELTRFAEENXZUE:

Name of related parties Relationships with the Group

BEL AW B B KRR

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited A related company owned by a director of the subsidiary
hEMCERERERAT MEAR —2ESEHEANBELR

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited A related company owned by a director of the subsidiary
PEREEREGR LA MEBAR —EEEHEANAELT
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
related parties that had transactions with the
Group were as follows: (Continued)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
in notes 7(a) and 22 in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions during the year:

20, ERBEIRS (&)

@@ REBEEZE=-ZE—hLhE=BA=+-—-HL
FE-BEFEAEENTZOT
(#&)

BREGAMBRROTT(R22BEENR S
MG REBRFARER L NI EXEEE
RS

2019 2018
—E-hE - N\F

Leases of properties from MUATEFHEMSE
Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited HR A (R E R A A 720,000 624,000
Chung Wah Investment Company Limited RELEERGRAA 1,380,000 1,140,000
2,100,000 1,764,000

Note: The directors of the Company are of opinion that the above
transactions were entered into the normal course of business.
The related party transactions in respect of rental expenses
paid to a related company constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however, they
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

(b) Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 9

and certain of the highest paid employees and senior
management as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

fiz: ARRESERR LRARXZ IR —REBKBRERE]
YoBAXNT-HEEARNESHXHEES
RHWK ETRAUNEVAAE T ENRER S AT
ZERGEH BT ETRANF AR ERE

(b) BRIBEBAESNXRS
TEEEANEHME
TZEEAEMS(BERINTHEIMEE

EENRBALMFIOMEBEETRSHFAER
SREEENFE)WT

2019 2018

—E-hE ZZT-N\F

Short-term employee benefits RHEEREF 10,118,275 13,164,488
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 87,000 88,500
10,205,275 13,252,988

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
7(0)).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

30. COMPANY LEVEL OF FINANCIAL

30. A TEEMEMNIERRE

1]

STATEMENT

2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZE-N\F

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB R B HRE 27,970,125 27,970,118
27,970,125 27,970,118

Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A FRIE K B R R IE 876,114 256,548
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NN ] 415,825,038 423,111,573
Cash and cash equivalents HEeNIREEEY 216,670 763,383
416,917,822 424,131,504
Current liabilities I h=R

Other payables H b FE T 5IR 155,000 36,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT 8 A B3k I8 129,081,227 129,831,180
129,236,227 129,867,180
Net current assets REBEEFEE 287,681,595 294,264,324
NET ASSETS EEFE 315,651,720 322,234,442

Capital and reserves EXRf#HE
Share capital A& 7S 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves (note 26) (I aE26) 306,051,720 312,634,442
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 315,651,720 322,234,442

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 26 June 2019

Fong Hon Hung

T ER
Director

EF

1 T 3%

Zhang Zhenyi

iR =

Director

EF

RZZBE-—NFAAZTAAREZTSHEMK
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —E—NWEF=A=+—H It FE (UETHE)

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9
at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of
the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note
2(c).

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

31. LBREF

AEBER T \FOA-—BEREREE
MBEBRELERFISHE LB ERELERFEI
St RIBEHRANBETE  LBRERKRTES -
ERETRREGHE —FFBRME2(c)®

E':go

32. E-Z-NF=ZA=1t—-HLFE
CRMERERSE HEAARZRE
MR E

BEAMBRREMGEDR TESAMAE
ERGHEEBEET HEALRRE(RBE_F
—NWF=ZA=+T—"HILEFERRER TRE
AUBEBRERPED) - AT RAIRLEAERSF
BT HERRRE-

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

BUATRHA 2%
Fi6 2 &5 H 4 &K
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019
ERVBRELN _ZE-—NFE_T—+FRAMZFRERHE —T-hE—A—H

HKFRS 16, Leases
BEAEVBmELERE165  HE

HK(FRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments

58 (BERMERERBEES) REFERR  HEHEENTEE L

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation
ERVBHRELER BN (BFIAR) » R EHIIEFEXIFIE

Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures
BB ERE8H (BE]AR) REELFIRAE EPENR A #Em
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & Z —ZE— & =A=+—B It FE (B THE)

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
(Continued)

32. BE-E—hE=A=+—HILEE
ERMGERERET FHEARDZE
WE e & (&)

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

BLAT RSz
Fia 2 gt AR
Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 1 January 2019
BB G ERNFE199 (BRTAR) 1 JNE2 - ARl E —T-hEF—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

BT B MEERNEISR (BFIAN)  XEAEFE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

ARG EUFIRREEGHERNESHE (BAIAN) EXAEEH

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts
BBV BWMELENEITS  REEA 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
EEMBHRELENF105 REE G ERF285 ({B51A) -

REFHRBENRLE L P REEELEZLRA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some aspects
of the new standards which may have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements. Further details
of the expected impacts are discussed below. While
the assessment has been substantially completed for
HKFRS 16, the actual impact upon the initial adoption of
this standard may differ as the assessment completed to
date is based on the information currently available to the
Group, and further impacts may be identified before the
standard is initially applied in the Group’s interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 September 2019. The
Group may also change its accounting policy elections,
including the transition options, until the standard is initially
applied in that financial report.

1 January 2020
—ZE_TF—-H—H

1 January 2020
—E-FEF—-—H—H

1 January 2021
—E_—%F—H—H

A date to be determined by
HKICPA
KRB ASMASEERN B H

AEBLEFHZFET HEURBERERX
FERABE AT E - BATASEC BRI £
Al AR R M B RRELBEATENS
THE - BFRABHRRZENE - THFBR TR
A-BEUHBREYHERELEAFIGROFED
EARZER BEHRESRIEATEXOTETDE
RAEBBRAISER  MERXRAZEND
ERFENREMZE MRZEYNEXRER
RAKBEBE_ZT-NAFAA=ZTBILAXEA
TR BEREZAMKEERE-— ST E - K
SETAERESTRREE (BEARER
B) BEERERERERRZMBRERL-

48
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) & —Z

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 2(i), currently the Group classifies
leases into finance leases and operating leases and
accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending
on the classification of the lease. The Group enters into
some leases as the lessee.

Once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.
Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will
account for all leases in a similar way to current finance
lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the
lease the lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability
at the present value of the minimum future lease payments
and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset.
After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee
will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of
the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a
practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the
lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value
assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment which
are currently classified as operating leases. The application
of the new accounting model is expected to lead to an
increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the
timing of the expense recognition in the statement of profit
or loss over the period of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (in HK Dollars) &%

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group
plans to use the practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements are,
or contain, leases. The Group will therefore apply the new
definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that
are entered into on or after the date of initial application. In
addition, the Group plans to elect the practical expedient
for not applying the new accounting model to short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019 and will
not restate the comparative information.

The Group expects that the initial adoption of HKFRS 16
will not be material transition adjustments. However, the
expected changes in accounting policies as described
above could have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statement from 2019 onwards.

e PR wRRME

NE=ZA=1T—HBLEFE (CUETHE)

32. BE-T-—NF=A=+—HILFE
ERMEERERBET HEARRE
MTATRER & (2)

ERUBHREEREI65  HE (&)

BEUM B RS RN B~ NE—F—
H 55 2 16 B B 46 B K o 12 B 0B BT 75 R
SEAEICRAFOERT  AREHE A
ERAEE THRABRRB A AENRY
) 55 31 87 1 38 ) 8 PR 7 75 1 7 98 &5 R R S5 16
o E il A Y EORE B R
BT E0A 0 RS B R AR R E 16 2 R
AENHES - ARBRRDEERE
ke FHEHAEREEESEAEEANE
S -

AEBFERRABTEM B RS ERNFE 16588
BRBAEEBITENE U EREANRGFTH
ERAR/N T NFHOA-HZEZHVE
HReAE BT8EIHLBRER-

AEBERERRKNBER B RS ERE165
FRELMNBRAEGTER-AM LdE
E'Jrﬁﬁl“ﬁ’ﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ;@b—fﬁééﬁli%:%*ﬂi%
MM BEBRRELEBEATZE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B HME

RESULTS 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ES | “B-NE T \F ZT—+F ZE-RF —T-1f
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
Cikd) (PaE) (PaE) (PiaE)
Total Revenue BUA 202,893,907 226,225,862  235519,620 369,569,772 408,127,724
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBA (BR) & F (56,988,999)  (70,336,139) (149,564) 32,881,714 76,756,078
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEEiRe,/ (AX) 1,760,374 88,657 (861,377) (7,317,439  (14,449,841)
(Loss)/profit and total FR(BE) /5 R
comprehensive income 2ENGEEE
for the year (55,228,625)  (70,247,482) (1,010,941) 25,564,275 62,306,237
(Loss)/profit attrioutable to equity 78/ B2 25 B & JE (5
shareholders of the Company ~ (&18) /% 7 (55,228,625)  (70,247,482)  (1,010,941) 25573227 61,999,801
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets EELE 504,611,137 544,489,317 601,528,891 341,748,467 272,320,210
Total liabilities BEAE (236,330,637) (219,461914) (206,254,008)  (79,472,641)  (125,225,561)
Net assets BESE 268,280,500 325,027,403 395,274,885 262,275,826 147,094,649
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 fizt: AEEERT—N\FUNA—BEXERBEINE
at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen, HEERIFOW R B BB EERNE 155 < IREFT
comparative information is not restated. BEABEL MESILERER -
This report is published in both English and Chinese RBENRREXHE ARXRANEEE -
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between B DA B SRR AR A 2 o
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall
prevail.
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